Emotional Experience in

Psychotherapeutic Interacion

Conversation Analytical Study on Cognitive Psychotherapy

Liisa Voutilainen

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Social Sciences of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Auditorium XII, University Main Building, on 22^{nd} May 2010, at 10 am.

Department of Social Research, University of Helsinki Sociology Research Reports, No. 264, 2010

ISSN 0438-9948 ISBN 978-952-10-6264-3 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-6265-0 (PDF)

Helsinki University Print Helsinki 2010

Contents

Contents	
Abstract	
Acknowledgements	6
List of original publications	
Transcription symbols	9
1. Introduction	
1.1. Object of the study	
1.2. Cognitive-constructivist psychotherapy	
1.3. Empathy in psychotherapy	
1.4. Psychotherapy as social action	
1.5. Social management of emotions	
1.6. Change in interaction	
2. Method	
2.1. Study of institutional interaction	
2.2. Conversation analysis	
2.3. Data and research process	
3. Summary of the results of the articles	
3.1. Recognition and interpretation	
3.2. Misalignment as a therapeutic resource	
3.3. Professional non-neutrality	
3.4. Therapeutic change in interaction	
4. Discussion	
4.1. Therapeutic modifications of everyday talk	
4.2. Types of empathy	

4.3. Social action and therapeutic change	32
4.4. Integrative therapeutic work	34
4.5. Sequential complexity	35
References	36
ORIGINAL ARTICLES	

Abstract

The dissertation examines how emotional experiences are oriented to in the details of psychotherapeutic interaction. The data (57 audio recorded sessions) come from one therapist-patient dyad in cognitive psychotherapy. Conversation analysis is used as method. The dissertation consists of 4 original articles and a summary.

The analyses explicate the therapist's practices of responding to the patient's affective expressions. Different types of affiliating responses are identified. It is shown that the affiliating responses are combined with, or build grounds for, more interpretive and challenging actions. The study also includes a case study of a session with strong misalignment between the therapist's and patient's orientations, showing how this misalignment is managed by the therapist. Moreover, through a longitudinal analysis of the transformation of a sequence type, the study suggests that therapeutic change processes can be located to sequential relations of actions.

The practices found in this study are compared to earlier research on everyday talk and on medical encounters. It is suggested that in psychotherapeutic interaction, the generic norms of interaction considering affiliation and epistemic access, are modified for the purposes of therapeutic work. The study also shows that the practices of responding to emotional experience in psychotherapy can deviate from the everyday practices of affiliation.

The results of the study are also discussed in terms of concepts arising from clinical theory. These include empathy, validation of emotion, therapeutic alliance, interpretation, challenging beliefs, and therapeutic change. The therapist's approach described in this study involves practical integration of different clinical theories. In general terms, the study suggests that in the details of interaction, psychotherapy recurrently performs a dual task of empathy and challenging in relation to the patient's ways of describing their experiences.

Methodologically, the study discusses the problem of identifying actions in conversation analysis of psychotherapy and emotional interaction, and the possibility to apply conversation analysis in the study of therapeutic change.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I wish to thank the therapists and the patients who made this study possible by recording their sessions for us. I regret that so much valuable data were not included in this study, as I eventually focused on just one therapy process.

I am deeply grateful to the therapist and the patient who recorded their long process that became the data of this study. Their discussions have touched me, and I have learnt a lot from them.

This thesis was carried out in my zone of proximal development in the guidance of Anssi Peräkylä and Johanna Ruusuvuori. I cannot imagine better training than the data sessions and co-authoring of papers with them. In the first place, Anssi introduced me to the fields of CA and psychotherapy, and helped me to make sense of them. My special thanks to Anssi for our weekly sessions; for the understanding, encouragement, and confrontation. Above all, I want to thank Anssi for the feeling that I can always talk to him, whatever comes up. My thanks to Johanna for the careful reading of my papers during the process. More than once Johanna's comments and ideas have helped me out from a block.

I am indebted to Paul Drew for his involvement in supervision of us visitors in York in autumn 2006 and spring 2007. My thanks for the profound CA course, for the important comments on my work, and especially for the weekly 6 or more hours of data sessions for us visitors where we were able to learn from Paul's analyses. Thank you to Paul also for the teaching of English idioms!

I wish to thank the pre-examiners of this thesis, Douglas W. Maynard and Sanna Vehviläinen, and the anonymous reviewers of the original articles, for their valuable comments and suggestions. Thank you to John Heritage for agreeing to be my opponent.

This study is part of the research project *Emotion, interaction and institutions*. Thank you to Anssi, Johanna, Hanna Falk, Taru Ijäs-Kallio, and Mikko Kahri for the warm atmosphere of the group, for the serious work, and for the humour. My work started in an earlier project *Interaction and outcome in health services and social welfare*. My thanks to Sonja Bäckman, Leena Ehrling, Esa Lehtinen, Pirjo Lindfors, Tiina Mälkiä, Pirjo Nikander, and Sanna Vehviläinen for welcoming me warmly to the community and keeping in touch. Special thanks to Leena, Taru and Hanna; sharing of thoughts and experiences with them has been important to me. Thank you also to Katja Kurri, Mika Simonen, Nataliya Kondratyuk, Maari Kivioja, Melisa Stevanovic, and Timo Kaukomaa for the data sessions and chats.

Monika Vöge, Riina Kasterpalu, Martine Noordegraaf, Dangjie Ji, Ma Wen, and Paul Drew participated the data sessions in York in 2006-2007. Ideas from these sessions appear in the articles 1 and 2 of this study: thank you! Thanks to Monika, Riina, Martine and Dangjie also for the travels and other good memories.

I am grateful to Charles Antaki, Leena Ehrling, Mikael Leiman, William B. Stiles, and Sanna Vehviläinen for their valuable advices on working with psychotherapeutic data. Thanks also to SOVAKO teachers Ilkka Arminen, Kirsi Juhila, and Jarl Wahlström, and to the SOVAKO students, especially to Hanna Rautajoki and Inka Koskela. To Hanna, along with Anu zu Dohna, thanks also for all the discussions on studies and life, starting from 1997 at University of Tampere.

I wish to thank the present and former staff of the discipline of Sociology for the good working environment. Special thanks to Salla Ketola, Kimmo Herttua, Riikka Shemeikka, Suvi-Tuuli Waltari, and Mikko Virtanen with whom I have shared a room in different phases of the process, and to Kaisa Ketokivi, Jaana Maksimainen, and Mianna Meskus for good conversations and mentoring. Thanks also to participants of the former STEP seminar and the leaders of the seminar Risto Eräsaari and Anssi.

Studying affective expressions would have been much more difficult without good transcripts; my thanks to Katri Takala who transcribed most of the data of this study, and to the other transcribers. This study was made financially possible by Academy of Finland and SOVAKO doctoral program. Helsingin Sanomain säätiö gave me a grant for the York period. I gratefully acknowledge the permission from the publishers to print the original articles in this thesis.

I am grateful to my parents Sirkka and Rainer for the countryside holidays with the full board and childcare, and for all the other care and support. My warmest thanks to my parents-in-law Ulla and Olle for helping us whenever we needed. I want to mention with gratitude also my sister-in-law Essi and Ville, my godmother Eevi, and my friends, especially Virpi and her family, Hanna L., Sini, Anu, Hanna R., Eve, Taru, and Hanna F. Thanks also to Maarit, Piia, Hilu, Raija and Soila-Marja for the peace of mind about the daycare.

Finally, thank you to my husband Niklas for listening to the same conference presentations over and over again, for listening to me, for hearing me, and for offering me the daily doses of laughter and optimism. Not to mention the equal parenting of our daughter. And thank you to Elli for taking my thoughts away from work to the funny nonsense, and for the new kinds of words and emotions.

Helsinki, April 2010 Liisa Voutilainen

List of original articles

Ι	Voutilainen, L., Peräkylä, A., & Ruusuvuori, J. (2010) Recognition and Interpretation: Responding to Emotional Experience in Psychotherapy. <i>Research on Language and Social Interaction, 43</i> , 85-107.
II	Voutilainen, L., Peräkylä, A., & Ruusuvuori, J. (forthcoming). Misalignment as a therapeutic resource. <i>Qualitative Research in Psychology</i> .
III	Voutilainen, L., Peräkylä, A., & Ruusuvuori, J. (forthcoming). Professional non-neutrality: criticising the third party in psychotherapy. <i>Sociology of Health & Illness</i> .
IV	Voutilainen, L., Peräkylä, A., & Ruusuvuori, J. (submitted). Therapeutic change in interaction: Conversation analysis of a transforming sequence. Submitted to <i>Psychotherapy Research</i> (second, revised version).

Transcription symbols

T:	Speaker identification: therapist (T), patient (P)
[]	Brackets: onset and offset of overlapping talk
=	Equals sign: no gap between two utterances
(0.0)	Timed pause: silence measured in seconds and tenths of seconds
(.)	A pause of less than 0.2 second
	Period: falling or terminal intonation
,	Comma: level intonation
?	Question mark: rising intonation
\uparrow	Rise in pitch
\downarrow	Fall in pitch
-	A dash at the end of a word: an abrupt cutoff
<	The talk immediately following is 'jump started': that is it begins with a rush.
> <	Faster-paced talk than the surrounding talk
< >	Slower-paced talk than the surrounding talk
	Underlining: some form of stress, audible in pitch or amplitude
:	Colon(s): prolongation of the immediately preceding sound
0 0	Degree signs surrounding a passage of talk: talk at a lower volume than the surrounding talk
.hh	A row of hs preceded by a dot: an inbreath
hh	A row of hs without a dot: an outbreath
##	Number signs surrounding a passage of talk: spoken in a 'creaky' voice
	(vocal fry)
£	Smiley voice
(a)	Animated voice

1. Introduction

1.1. Object of the study

Psychotherapy is done through talk: talking – more specifically, interaction between the therapist and the patient – is supposed to facilitate a change in the patient. While therapeutic change is understood in different ways in different forms of psychotherapy, it is in probably all of them considered as connected to emotional experiencing: to feeling better, to understanding and appreciating one's emotions, to experiencing emotions as less overwhelming, for example. The means (content and form of talk and ways of interacting) through which therapies aim to these kinds of changes again differ but in many therapies emotional experiences are also a central topic of talk in the actual therapeutic work.

This study discusses these aspects of psychotherapy – talk, emotional experiences and change – through analyses of audio recordings from cognitive-constructivist psychotherapy. More specifically, the study approaches emotional experiences and therapeutic change *as they appear in therapeutic talk-in-interaction*. The study is sociological in nature and its conceptual basis is in the research tradition of institutional interaction; using the methods of conversation analysis (CA), the study describes how psychotherapy emerges as sequentially organized social action. The data analyses presented in this thesis thus do not draw from the concepts of cognitive-constructivist therapy, nor psychotherapy or psychology in general. As an introduction to the subject, however, I would like to start from the aims of the therapeutic orientation in question.

1.2. Cognitive-constructivist psychotherapy

Cognitive-constructivist therapy is an approach in the field of cognitive therapies. The basic idea of classical cognitive therapy – founded by Aaron T. Beck in 1960's originally for treatment of depression (Beck et al., 1979) – is to examine and change dysfunctional cognitions, and the dysfunctional beliefs (such as *I am responsible for everything* or *Others cannot be trusted*) that the (automatic) cognitions reflect (Karila & Holmberg, 2008). According to Beck (1976), changes in patient's cognitions lead to positive changes in his or her emotional experiencing. As compared to other forms of psychotherapy, cognitive therapy introduces itself as more focused on the present, more time-limited and more oriented towards problem-solving (www.beckinstitute.org). Besides classical Beckian therapy, these ideas are applied also in different kinds of cognitive-behavioural therapies (CBT) (see e.g. www.eabct.com).

Cognitive-constructivist therapy is an offshoot of classical Beckian cognitive therapy. It has been characterized as a post-rationalist cognitive therapy (Guidano, 1991). Compared to Beckian cognitive therapy or CBT, constructivist framework focuses more on subjective experiences and meanings and their historical construction. The 'constructivist' is not taken as social constructivism/ constructionism, but as referring to construction of personal meanings, meaning organisations and the self (Toskala & Hartikainen, 2005; Guidano, 1991). This kind of psychotherapy helps the patient to gain a reflexive (instead of reactive) position towards his or her experiences, in other words, to recognise and regulate his or her internal processes (Toskala & Hartikainen, 2005: 111). A basic idea in therapeutic work is to investigate the patient's internal dialogue between immediate experiences on one hand, and explanations of the experiences on the other (Toskala & Hartikainen, 2005; Guidano, 1991).

In the Finnish context from which the data of this study come, cognitive-constructivist (*kognitiivis-konstruktiivinen*) therapy is mainly practiced under the broad name of cognitive therapy (see Hakanen, 2008). Cognitive therapists apply constructivist conceptions and methods in their work, among other conceptions and methods of cognitive therapies. The therapy orientation thus does not pursue fixed working procedures but rather an integrative and flexible approach (Hakanen, 2008; Toskala & Hartikainen, 2005).

1.3. Empathy in psychotherapy

Management of emotional experiences in interaction is the focal theme of this study. In psychology, this theme is often discussed in terms the concept of empathy. In psychological literature, empathy is understood as an *attitude* on one hand, and as *behavior* on the other. Basically, empathetic attitude involves understanding and appreciating the other's idiosyncratic experience, which can involve actually feeling some of what the other is feeling, or more of a cognitive process of knowing the mind of the other (Bohart & Greenebrg, 1997: 4-5; Rogers, 1959). Empathy as behavior, in the psychotherapeutic context, has been linked especially to empathetic reflections which communicate to the other what the speaker has heard her/him saying and experiencing, while also other kinds of actions, such as displays of attention, interpretations (e.g. Greenberg & Elliot, 1997) or therapist's self-disclosures (Bachelor, 1988) can be heard as communicating empathy (see Bohart & Greenberg, 1997; Kuusinen, 2008; Toskala & Hartikainen, 2005).

In psychotherapeutic literature the function of empathy is understood basically in two ways: as a background variable that is used to establish a relationship in which therapeutic treatment can take place (e.g. Beck, 1976), or as a central variable of therapeutic change in its own right (e.g. Rogers, 1957; Warner, 1997). In the latter kind of understanding, a basic idea is that experiences of the therapist's empathy help the patients to relate more

'empathetically' to their own experiences, and so recognize and accept experiences that they have previously held as shameful or unacceptable. This idea is maintained also in cognitive-constructivist therapy. (Bohart & Greenberg, 1997; Kuusinen, 2008; Toskala & Hartikainen, 2005.)

The patients' perceptions of the therapist's empathy have been shown to be linked with positive outcome of the therapy (see Orlinsky & al, 1994). Empirical studies on the actual composition of empathy in therapeutic sessions have focused on the content of the empathetic responses, e.g. whether the therapist refers to cognitions or emotions (Tausch, 1988; Brodley & Brody, 1990; see Bohart & Greenberg, 1997: 20-21). In this study, the focus is on how the therapist's responses relate to the patient's previous turns at talk (and their implications to further talk), and so on sequential and interactional features of what might be heard as empathy (cf. Ruusuvuori, 2005; Pudlinski, 2005; Ehrling, 2006; Hepburn & Potter, 2007).

Above I have introduced the topic of this study in clinical and psychological terms. As psychotherapy and emotion are usually considered as 'psychological' phenomena, it was necessary to put the phenomena of this study on the psychological and clinical map. However, I will next turn to literature that comes closer to the conceptual basis of this study, as it approaches psychotherapy from the perspective of language use and social action.

1.4. Psychotherapy as social action

The conceptual basis of most of the research on psychotherapy is on clinical theories or more general psychological or medical theories of mental health (see e.g. Lambert & Ogles, 2004; Rennie & Toukmanian, 1992; Pachankis & Goldfried, 2007). In some studies, however, psychotherapy is understood primarily as a *social institution*. Such studies often involve a critical perspective towards psychotherapeutic or psychiatric discourses. In sociology, psychotherapy has been viewed, rather than as a treatment to pregiven disorders, as a part of a process that actually produces what is taken as psychopathology (Scheff, 1966; Morrall, 2008; cf. Parsons, 1951). Some recent studies also explore the ways in which psychotherapeutic discourses have been spread into public life and popular culture, promoting such conceptions as the fragility of the self and need for confession of private hurt (Furedi, 2004 on *therapy culture*, cf. Kivivuori, 1992). Sociology of psychotherapy involves also analyses on power relations and subjectivity in therapies (e.g. Rose, 1996; Hook, 2003, 2001) and on history of psychiatric treatment (e.g. Helén, 2007; Helén & Ojakangas, 1994) drawing from Foucault's (e.g. 1967) thinking.

Besides sociology, also clinical research has sometimes approached psychotherapy as a social institution. Besides showing how therapies for example maintain traditional gender and family relations, critical clinical studies have sought to reformulate existing psychotherapeutic theories and practices, or to create new (e.g. feminist and postmodern) therapies (see Hare-Mustin, 1983; McNamee & Gergen, 1992; Avdi & Georgaca, 2007).

This study takes a different position in relation to psychotherapeutic theories and practices than the studies referred to above. Clinical considerations are not the point of departure for the study, but they are either not taken under investigation or evaluation as such. Rather, the study aims to explicate the relation between the psychotherapeutic theories and the actual events of social interaction in the therapeutic sessions (Peräkylä & Vehiläinen, 2003; Peräkylä, Ruusuvuori & Vehviläinen, 2005). In more general terms, this study follows a tradition that aims to describe psychotherapy as *language use and social action*, as it emerges in the actual sessions between patients and therapists.

Sociolinguistic studies of psychotherapies started in the time when recording techniques become commonly available (cf. lectures by Sacks in 1960's in Sacks, 1992, vol 1: 3-20, 268-280; see Peräkylä & al. 2008). Pittenger et al (1961) described in detail an audio recording of the first five minutes of an initial psychiatric interview, paying particular attention to the implicit meanings conveyed by the lexical and prosodic choices of the participants. Scheflen (1973) presented a microanalysis of a segment of family therapy, focussing especially on the coordination of language, posture and gesture of the participants. Labov and Fanshel (1977) analysed a segment of psychotherapy interaction using speech act theory, and the line of their work was more recently continued by Ferrara (1994), who examined various discourse strategies (such as repetition of the other's talk, construction of metaphors, and joint production of utterances) in a large corpus of tape recorded data (see also Ferrara, 2002 on resistance). (Peräkylä & al., 2008: 7-10.)

Speech act perspective has been applied also by Stiles (1992) who classified utterances in psychotherapy on the basis of how the speaker relates to his or her interlocutor in three dimensions (*source of experience, frame of reference* and *presumption*). This taxonomy was developed using psychotherapeutic data but it was later used to study particulars of communication (e.g. role dimensions) in other contexts as well (see Stiles, 1992; cf. Bales, 1999). Linguistic perspectives, drawing e.g. from Bakhtin, have been applied also in more clinically-oriented psychotherapy research (e.g. Leiman, 2004; Seikkula, 1993; Angus & McLeod, 2004).

In 1990s, and especially after the turn of the Century, research on psychotherapy and counselling has rapidly increased within conversation analysis (that is the approach taken in this study) and discursive psychology (see Edwards, 1997; Jokinen & Suoninen, 2000). A central research theme has been how therapists reformulate the client's talk for purposes of therapeutic work. Studies have explicated the ways in such reformulations serve, for example the joint definition of a problem (Davis, 1986; Buttny 2004), elicitation of client's talk (Hutchby, 2005), diagnosis and history-taking (Antaki & al., 2005) or preparing for interpretation (Vehviläinen, 2003; Peräkylä, 2004a). CA studies have also examined the client's actions after the therapist's interventions, explicating ways in which clients convey resistance or alignment with the therapist's actions (Hutchby, 2002; MacMartin, 2008; Peräkylä, 2005; Bercelli & al., 2008; Falk, in preparation). Besides individual therapies, also couple-, family- and group therapies and counselling have been widely studied from the perspectives of interactional and discursive practices (Gale, 1991; Jones & Beach, 1995; Edwards, 1995; Peräkylä, 1995; Arminen, 1998; Halonen, 2008; Wahlstöm & Kurri, 2005; Partanen, 2008).

Furthermore, studies on interactional / discoursive practices of therapies have discussed such issues as epistemic rights (Peräkylä & Silverman, 1991; Vehviläinen, 2003; Rae 2008), intersubjectivity (Arminen, 1998; Vehviläinen, 2003; Peräkylä, 2008), morality (Kurri & Wahlström, 2001; see also Bergmann, 1992) and agency (Kurri and Wahlström, 2007; Halonen 2008; Partanen & al., 2006). Orientation to emotion, which is a focal theme in this study, has been described in terms of therapists' intensification or regulation of clients' descriptions (Peräkylä, 2008; forthcoming; Rae, 2008; see also Ehrling, 2006 on research interviews of psychotherapy patients) and use of emotion descriptions by clients (Edwards, 1995) and therapists (Vehviläinen, 2008). One of the tasks of this study is to extend the repertoire of CA research on psychotherapy further towards emotional communication.

1.5. Social management of emotions

Sociological theories offer perplexingly many different ways to understand the place and significance of emotion in social life. Sociological theories emphasise differently cultural (Durkheim, 1980 [1912]; Goffman, 1959; Hochschild, 1979), psychological (Scheff, 2003), biological (Turner, 2000) and macrostructural (Kemper, 1990) facets of emotions (Turner & Stets, 2005). While the theoretical and methodological approach taken in this study, conversation analysis, does not involve a theory of the 'source' of emotions (for example in terms of social constructionism or biology), the CA perspective comes closest to the cultural, discursive and 'dramaturgical' approaches in sociology. In general terms, these sociological approaches seek to explicate how culture provides *scripts* for expression and management of emotion (Turner & Stets, 2005: 26-28). They suggest that acting according to the cultural scripts serves for social systems and integration, but the scripts can also be used for individual (strategic) purposes (Durkheim, 1980 [1912]; Goffman, 1959; Hochschild, 1979; Clark 1990; see Turner & Stets, 2005: 26-28; cf. also Edwards, 1999; Gergen, 1999; Collins, 2004).

This study shares this script-perspective as it examines the ways in which emotion is presented in the manifest interaction (thus focusing on *displays* on emotional experiences, not on psycho-physiological experiences); the ways in which management of emotion is socially organized; and the ways in which the management of emotion is linked to strategic and institutional purposes (here in terms of therapeutic tasks). However, instead of studying how the participants of interaction *as individual actors* follow or make use of 'feeling rules' (Hochshild, 1979) or 'emotion discourse' (Edwards, 1999), the aim of this study is to look at how the participants treat the emotion as relevant in their *collaborative action*. In other words, the analytical focus is not so much on cultural codes or individual purposes than on emergent social action and achievement of shared understanding.

Emotion is an emergent theme in CA (Peräkylä, 2004b). Studies that focus on management of emotional displays in interaction include e.g. Hepburn (2004) on crying in helpline calls (see also Hepburn & Potter, 2007); Jefferson (1984a), Haakana (1999), Vöge (2010) and Potter & Hepburn (forthcoming) on laughter in different settings; Heath

(1988) and Sandlund (2004: 160-226) on embarrassment in medical consultations and academic seminars respectively; Heath (1989) on expression of pain in medical consultations; and Whalen and Zimmerman (1998) on 'hysteric' displays of anxiety in emergency calls. (For a brief overview, see Peräkylä, 2004b: 9-10.)

Different 'modalities' of expression have been shown to serve as vehicles of emotional communication. Thus, orientation to emotion or affect (I use the two terms interchangeably) has been located in facial expressions (Peräkylä & Ruusuvuori, 2006), prosody (Selting, 1994; Couper-Kuhlen, 2009; Local & Walker, 2008) and lexical and syntactic choices (Sorjonen, 2001; Hakulinen & al., 2004; Haakana & Sorjonen, forthcoming). For example, the use of extreme-case formulations (e.g. *never*, *always*, *all the time*) appears to be a common means to mark an utterance as affective (Pomeranz, 1986; Edwards, 2000). In general terms, different linguistic strategies of displaying stance (taking a position towards something, displaying attitude) can be associated with affect and emotion (e.g. Du Bois, 2007; Haddington, 2006; Kärkkäinen, 2006; Keisanen, 2007; Goodwin, 2007).

In this study, the focus is not on particular emotional displays (such as laughter or facial expressions) but on broader actions through which the participants express their understanding on the emotional experiences under discussion. In this sense, this study has much in common with earlier research on troubles telling (Jefferson, 1980, 1988; Jefferson & Lee, 1992; Ruusuvuori 2005, 2007) and complaining (Drew, 1998a; Günthner, 1997; Drew & Walker, 2009; Ruusuvuori & Lindfors, 2009). Furthermore, earlier research has shown that also such actions as assessments (Goodwin & Goodwin, 2000), accounting (Buttny, 1993: Ch. 6), delivery and reception of news (Maynard, 1997, 2003; Freese and Maynard, 1998) and requesting (Wootton, 1997: Ch. 4) can be heard as conveying emotion. (See Peräkylä, 2004b: 10; Peräkylä & Sorjonen, forthcoming.)

CA studies thus have started to provide cumulating knowledge on the ways in which emotions are expressed and regulated in immediate social interaction. In terms of sociology of emotions, they can be seen to offer empirical descriptions of micro-processes that for example Goffman (1959), Scheff (1990) and recently Collins (2004) have viewed as constitutive for society, as well as for individual experiences.

This study seeks to make a further contribution to this line of conversation analytical research. Psychotherapy offers a particularly interesting setting for the study of interactional management emotion since working with patients' emotional experiences – through talk – is one of its basic tasks (see Edwards, 1995; Peräkylä, 2008; Rae, 2008; Vehviläinen, 2008; Ehrling, 2006).

1.6. Change in interaction

Therapeutic change is a major theme in clinical research on psychotherapy. Clinically oriented psychotherapy research can be divided into two main directions: outcome research and process research. Outcome research seeks to compare different therapeutic approaches in terms of the measurable change they produce in patients (see e.g. Knekt & al., 2008) while process research aims at describing the actual events of therapy process

that amount to change (see e.g. Laitila & al., 2005; Stiles et al., 1990). Process researchers have investigated interaction between the therapist and the patient for example by trying to identify interactional events that are significant in the change process (e.g. Elliot, 1989) and by analysing dialogical aspects (e.g. positions that the speaker takes in relation to other) of speech (Leiman, 1997; Seikkula, 1993). Furthermore, Leiman and Stiles (2001) have integrated Vygotsky's (1978) concept of zones of proximal development to studies of change processes, arguing that phases of the clients' change can be located first to collaborative action with the therapist, before they are shown in the clients' own actions (cf. Stiles & al., 1990).

Leiman and Stiles' idea on zones of proximal development connects easily with CA of psychotherapy, which in general terms, according to Peräkylä & al. (2008), investigates the ways in which the expressed understandings concerning the patient's experience get transformed in and through adjacent turns at talk. CA studies of psychotherapy (as well as of other interactional settings) thus far, however, have mainly concentrated on recurrent, 'static', practices – for example on the ways in which therapists' formulations edit the clients' talk. These studies have explicated local transformations of understandings on micro level (see Peräkylä & al, 2008; Antaki, 2008). This study introduces a new dimension of CA study of the transformation of understandings concerning the patient's experience, as relations between adjacent utterances will be described also from a longitudinal perspective, with the aim of pinning down a more robust therapeutic change across a series of sessions.

Recently, Lepper & Mergenthaler (2005, 2007 and 2008) have suggested that conversation analysis could contribute to the study of therapeutic change. They combined CA with another methodology, namely therapeutic cycles model (Mergenthaler, 1996) to study clinically significant interactions. The significant events (periods of heightened therapist-client engagement) were identified using the cycles model and then analyzed by means of conversation analysis. Lepper & Mergenthaler suggest that through comparison, this approach can be used for studying the relation between therapeutic work and outcome. CA was used also by Leudar & al. (2008) who studied therapeutic processes within a session in group therapy for children.

In this study, CA is used to study a therapeutic process. A process of change over time in a particular recurrent sequence (i.e., pair of utterances) is explicated. This kind of longitudinal approach to adjacent utterances has been recently taken in studies of teaching and learning (cf. also Heritage & Lindström, 1998; Wootton, 1997). Studies have described changes over time in interaction in for example second language learning (Young & Miller, 2004; Mondada & Pekarek Doehler, 2004), classroom interaction between children (Melander & Sahlström, 2009), physiotherapy (Martin, 2004) and speech therapy (Sellman, 2008). On the basis of empirical analyses, these studies suggest that learning processes amount to changes in the ways in which learners interact with others (i.e. to changing participation, Lave & Wenger, 1991; see Vehviläinen, 2009: 186-187). In this study this idea is applied to study of therapeutic change (cf. Leiman & Stiles, 2001; Peräkylä & al., 2008). I have now briefly introduced the object of this study, and fields of research to which this study aims to make a contribution. In the following sections I will discuss in more detail the theoretical and methodological basis of the study.

2. Method

2.1. Study of institutional interaction

The study of institutional interaction is a research tradition that draws from conversation analytical, and originally ethnomethodological (Garfinkel, 1967), notions on constitution of social realities in interaction. Studies of institutional interaction seek to unravel the ways in which professional institutions (in, for example, education, healthcare, or legal system) are reproduced in interaction between professionals or professionals and clients. A key idea is the dual conception of context: social action is both context-shaped (i.e. participants orient to the context in their action) and context-renewing (the context is built in and through action) (Heritage, 1984).

Research on institutional interaction seeks to show how participants through their interactional practices *invoke and orient to* specific institutional norms, tasks and identities (Drew and Heritage 1992; cf. Parsons, 1951). Through conversation analytical methods, the studies examine how the practices of everyday conversation are modified for institutional purposes. The presence of the institution can be located for example in lexical choice, turn design, turn-taking organisation or in asymmetry between participants in terms of epistemic positions or control over the course of interaction (Drew & Heritage, 1992). Besides comparison with everyday conversation, also comparison between institutions reveals features of interaction that are typical to the institution in question (Drew, 1998b; Peräkylä, Ruusuvuori & Vehviläinen, 2005).

Institutional interactions typically involve specialised professional knowledge and specific professional goals. The study of institutional interaction takes up these in two ways. First, the researcher has to have enough knowledge on the institution and professions in question to be able to recognize institutionally relevant actions and sense-making practices of the participants (Arminen, 2005). This kind of ethnographic knowledge becomes particularly important in cases where all the participants of the interaction are professionals who share the professional knowledge, for example in the case of interaction between pilots (see Auvinen, 2009).

Another way in which the study of institutional interaction relates to professional conceptions considers the relation between professional theories or ideologies and the actual practices of professional interaction (Peräkylä & Vehviläinen, 2003; Peräkylä, Ruusuvuori & Vehviläinen, 2005). Conversation analyses of the institutional encounters can specify, correct or add new dimensions to professional theories, particularly to those that consider the interaction between professionals and clients (Peräkylä & Vehiläinen, 2003 on *professional stocks of interactional knowledge*; Peräkylä, 1995). This kind of dialogue can help the professionals to reflect their everyday work. For example, conversation analytical studies have discussed the relation between actual practices and the principles of patient participation and shared decision making in heath care

consultations (e.g. Stivers, 2007; Collins & al, 2007; Lindfors, 2005; Ijäs-Kallio & al., forthcoming). Respectively, one aim of this study is a dialogue with theories of cognitive therapy, as well as with more general theories of psychotherapy, considering for example the role of empathy in psychotherapy.

This kind of engagement with clinical theories in not without risks. A critic might say that this study takes the foundations of the professional discourses for granted and focuses too much on practical concerns of the professionals (see Georgaca & Avdi, 2009). For example, the therapist's persuasive actions could be discussed both in terms of treatment and in terms of power; and this study concentrates on the former (cf. Hook, 2003). In methodological terms, however, research on institutional interaction - including this particular study - does not take the professional ideas for granted but, more accurately, begins with ethomethodological 'bracketing' of them (Peräkylä, Ruusuvuori & Vehviläinen, 2005; Avdi & Georgaca, forthcoming; Heritage, 1984; Schütz, 2007 [1932]). In other words, the study of institutional interaction aims at describing the inner ('commonsense') logics of institutions as they are actualized in the participants' intersubjective action. Then, besides to practical concerns, these descriptions could be linked also to (more critical) considerations on social relations (Peräkylä 2004b; McIlvenny, 2002; Arminen, 2005: 81-82).

Having said all this, it should be acknowledged that the articles of this study refer to clinical concepts perhaps more, and in a less 'agnostic' manner, than conversation analysis of psychotherapy usually has done (cf. e.g. Antaki, 2008; Rae, 2008). It is pointed out in the articles that they in many ways describe the same phenomena to which psychotherapeutic concepts refer. These concepts involve *empathy*, *validation of emotion*, *therapeutic alliance*, *interpretation*, *challenging beliefs*, and *therapeutic change*. During the initial stages of the data analysis, some of these concepts served as heuristic tools that led me to recognize institutionally relevant practices (see Arminen, 2005). It should be emphasized, however, that the results of the data analysis do not rest upon psychotherapeutic or clinical concepts. Any reader who is familiar with conversation analysis study, also without reference to these clinical concepts.

2.2. Conversation analysis

In investigating institutional interaction, this study uses the methods of conversation analysis. In CA, the interest is in the means through which participants intersubjectively create and interpret the social scene which they are in. The meaning of the participants' actions is understood in relation to their sequential context. In this sense, CA continues the tradition of Garfinkel's (1967) ethnomethology. (Heritage, 1984; Silverman, 1998). Conversation analysis was founded by Harvey Sacks (a student of Goffman and co-worker of Garfinkel) and his colleagues in University of California in 1960's (see Sacks, 1992; Sacks, Schegloff & Jeffersson, 1974). Sacks's key idea was to use recordings of naturally occurring conversations to study the *organisation of social action*, in its own right (cf.

Goffman, 1983) and in a data driven way (instead of drawing from pre-given theoretical idealizations) (Silverman, 1998; Schegloff, 1992).

The first conversation analysts confirmed that talk-in-interaction is finely organized (see Lerner, 2004). Studies explicated the systematics of such generic practices of conversation as turn taking (Sacks, Schegloff & Jefferson, 1974; Jefferson, 1984b), repair (Schegloff, Jefferson & Sacks, 1977) and openings (Schegloff, 1979) and closings (Schegloff & Sacks, 1973). Seminal research yielded also notions of *adjacency pair* (Sacks, 1992; Schegloff, 2007) and *preference* (Sacks, 1992; Pomeranz, 1984). It was shown that conversation is basically organized as pairs of turns (actions), of which the first pair part (e.g. a question or an assessment) creates a particular relevance to a certain action in the second pair part (an answer or a second assessment, respectively). Further, actions that agree with or accept what was suggested in the first turn are preferred, over the actions that disagree or decline (so, for example, agreement with the first assessment is preferred over disagreement). This preference is maintained in conversation through marking disagreement or rejection as problematic, for example by delaying response. (Sacks, 1992, Vol 2: Winter 1970, lecture 4, Spring 1972, lecture 1; Pomeranz, 1984; Schegloff, 2007.)

During the first decades in the history of CA, research focused mainly on informal, everyday conversations. The study of institutional interaction within CA (in the sense described above) started from the study by Atkinson & Drew (1979), which compared everyday conversation and talk in court. (Heritage, 2004; Arminen, 2005.)

While conversation analysis has its roots in sociology, it has been widely applied and developed also in linguistics and other disciplines. In general, CA research examines the sequential organisation of interaction, the actions participants accomplish in their turns at talk, and the design of the turns. Besides talk, analysis takes into account nonverbal aspects of expression such as pauses, laughter and prosody. When using video recorded data, CA studies also increasingly attend to visual aspects of interaction. Turns at talk are analysed as actions and in relation to their *sequential context* in the conversation: how a turn is an interpretation of the previous turn and which implications it gives to the next turn, and how it becomes meaningful also in relation with the larger phases of conversation. (Heritage, 1984, Ch. 8; Heritage & Atkinson, 1984.)

In CA, data analysis proceeds a 'data driven' way: the research foci and specific research questions are not determined in advance, but they arise from the contact with data. Previous research and CA concepts are, however, used as resources through out the process of data analysis: from the very beginning of the analysis, the data are articulated in terms of turn-taking, sequences, turn design, and so on. The data analysis starts with transcribing (see Jefferson, 2004) and unmotivated exploration of the data, after which the interactional phenomena to be examined are identified. Next phases involve collecting instances of the phenomenon and determining the variation of it. Finally, the wider implications, e.g. in terms of professional practice or social relations, of the investigated phenomenon are discussed. (Peräkylä, 2004c; ten Have, 1999) In what follows I will describe the research process in this study.

2.3. Data and research process

The data corpus of this study consists of 57 audio recorded therapy sessions from one therapist-patient dyad. The recordings cover a time period of (last) 18 months of a therapy process of two years. The therapist is an experienced private practitioner of cognitive-constructivist therapy, and the patient is a young adult who is recovering from depression. Informed consent was obtained from the participants.

In the early phase of the research process data were collected also form three other therapist-patient dyads. Since it became possible to have the longitudinal data from the first dyad we however decided to focus on this one process, aiming to track changes in the interaction over time. At that point it felt difficult to me to manage the data from different dyads to find the focus of the analysis. This was also a question of resources for transcribing. The recordings from the other dyads were very rich data and it is a pity that we were not able to include them to this study.

From the corpus of 57 sessions, 14 sessions were transcribed as whole and 12 sessions partly. The transcribed data from these 26 sessions covers approximately 20 hours of audio recordings. After transcribing systematically the first 7 sessions, data to be transcribed were selected on the basis of topics of talk in the sessions. These focus themes were the patient's (negative) experiences with people close to her, and partly overlapping with this, her conception of herself. I chose these rather intuitively as somewhat 'emotionally relevant' themes in the therapy after preliminary analyses of the first recordings. Additionally, one session was selected for transcription because in that particular session the participants talk about problems in their current interaction, which sounded interesting from the CA perspective. In the data that were not transcribed the participants talked about for example future events and issues considering the patient's work.

The overall topical organisation of the sessions is flexible; most talk during a session can be focused on a distinct theme, or the themes can vary during a session. Typically the sessions begin with the patient telling about how she has felt during the week and what has happened to her. This discussion about current or recent experiences can continue, or it can lead to (or intertwine with) discussion on other themes (e.g. patient's past experiences, her relations to others, her hopes or fears). Towards the end of some of the sessions, the therapist formulates a kind of conclusion or suggestion on the basis of the discussion. Development of recurrent themes can be traced from the data.

The overall sequential organisation of the sessions was not studied systematically, but it appears to me as more fluid than what was reported from cognitive therapy by Bercelli & al. (2008: 44-45), who characterize the turn-type distribution and turn order in cognitive therapy as consisting of series of question-answer sequences and question-answerstatement-response patterns. In my data, the patient's turns at talk are long and there are lots of perspective shifts. The therapist responds actively to the patient's talk, in a manner that adapts to, rather than seeks to control, the patient's perspective shifts.

Various perspectives to the data emerged in supervision and project meetings, in data sessions, and when analysing the data on my own. From the beginning of the project, my research interest was broadly management of emotion, which guided me to search for

sequences that seemed to involve affect in one way or another. The data being audio only set restrictions to what kinds of phenomena were available, thus I tried to find sequences where the 'emotion' was somewhat verbalised. I started from evaluations of stories, tried to find assessment sequences – and ended up noting that most of the data were not organised as clearly distinguishable activities (such as storytelling or complaining), nor as clear cut adjacency pairs (such as first and second assessments). Rather, the discussion appeared to me as a stream of 'topic talk' in which most turns at talk had equally responsive and initiative elements (cf. Bercelli & al., 2008: 44-45). The participants were involved in institutionally specific actions: the patient told about, and reflected upon, her experiences, and therapist made interventions that reformulated the patient's disclosures and suggested new perspectives. The initial analyses however encouraged me to make collections of cases where the patient's tellings and the therapist's initial responses to them had some features that in earlier CA studies have been shown to be associated with 'affective practices' such as evaluating stories, assessment sequences and complaining. Such features of talk that I found also from my data included extreme case formulations and other kinds of intensifiers, as well as prosodic and lexical expressiveness.

Despite the fact that the focus of my analysis is on verbal actions, it should be acknowledged that the analysis inevitably suffered from the lack of visual data. Especially problematic was the lack of visual information on therapist's and patient's actions that took place while the other was speaking.

In further analyses of the 'affective' segments in supervision meetings, we noted that some of the therapist's responses to the patient's disclosures conveyed interpretations of the patient's mind, while other responses referred to the 'outer world issues' such as other people or events. I reorganised the collections of cases to 'inner experience' and 'outer world' cases on the basis of the therapist's focus referent in her responses to the patient's potentially affective disclosures. These collections are the basis of the articles 1 and 3: the practices described in the first article were found from the 'experience' collection and the practices described in the third article from the 'outer world' collection. However, it should be noted that the practices reported in the articles do not cover all the initial collections. The article 1 does not discuss cases where the participants talk about feelings of depression or anxiety, nor cases where the therapist's response to the patient's disclosure is a 'mere *candidate* understanding' (that does not imply access to the experience). These cases seemed to be organised differently than the cases that were included to the article. The article 3, in turn, discusses only cases where the 'outer world' referent is a person (so not cases where the referent is an event or a thing).

Besides the collections, we worked with a single session, which appeared as deviant in the data (that is the session that I mentioned above, where the participants talk about their interactional problems). Many perspectives to the session were taken during the process (in Helsinki and York), which probably reflect the complexity of the case. Moreover, I had difficulties in applying a method that focuses on details (i.e., CA), to the study of the course of a whole session: there were lots of things going on, which could not be standardised in similar way as in analyses that are based on collections of similar sequences. However, the study was finished and is reported in the article 2.

The work that resulted as articles 1 and 3 was rather long and complicated as well, taking up different perspectives and building collections, and changing them again after analyzing new data. It was over 18 months into the research process when I had the first thought of the findings that were later reported in the first article. However, and perhaps accordingly, the latter phases of the research were easier. After writing the manuscripts of the articles 1, 2 and 3, I returned to the segments of data that I had worked with in the beginning; and the phenomenon that is reported in the fourth article 'just appeared' to me. This probably had to do with a tacit (ethnomethodological, I would like to think) conception that I had developed considering the main issues in the therapeutic process that I was studying. These intuitions were tested through a collection of cases that is described in the introduction of the fourth article.

The reports of the empirical results – the articles – were co-authored by Anssi Peräkylä and Johanna Ruusuvuori. The writing process of the articles went in the order of authors: I wrote the first versions, whereafter they were first edited by Peräkylä and then by Ruusuvuori (and then finished by me); except from the second article (*Misalignment as a* therapeutic resource) which was edited first by Ruusuvuori. Having acquired responses from the journals, we made the revisions of the manuscripts in the same order as we produced the original manuscripts. While Peräkylä is my supervisor and his insights have contributed to the analyses from their very beginning, in the phase of writing the articles his contribution was above all conceptual: he brought to the introduction and concluding sections both conversation analytical and psychotherapeutic concepts and discussions, especially in the first and third articles (Recognition and interpretation and Professional *non-neutrality*). Ruusuvuori, in turn, edited especially the data analyses in the articles, clarifying the use of CA concepts and pointing to features of turn design that were missed in the initial versions. Ruusuvuori's contribution was especially important for the formulation of the argument in the article 2, as well as for the discussions on features of troubles-tellings (in the first and second article) and complaints (in the third article) in the therapeutic activities – which has become a central theme in this study.

As this study focuses on interactions between one therapist and one patient, the practices found in this study are not as such genearlizable to all cognitive-constructive therapies, let alone other types of psychotherapy. The ways in which the therapist in the data works are probably dependent not only on her personal style and approach, but also on the contributions that this particular patient makes, and on the particular problems that are discussed. However, this study shows in detail ways in which cognitive-constructivist psychotherapy works (in relation to emotion) in this particular instance. Thereby, the study explicates *possible* ways in which the participants make systematically use of the sequential organization of interaction to 'talk psychotherapy into being'. The conclusions that this study draws about cognitive therapy or psychotherapy in general are based on the discussion with earlier empirical or theoretical literature, and are hypothetical in nature. (Peräkylä, 1997.)

3. Summary of the results of the articles

3.1. Recognition and interpretation

The first article describes two kinds of responses to the patient's descriptions of an emotional experience, named as recognition and interpretation. In recognition, the therapist displays that she understands the patient's experience and sees it as real and valid. In interpretation, the therapist points at something that can be heard as implicit in what the patient expressed: she offers the patient a new angle or connection to consider the experience in question, though heavily drawing upon the patient's preceding description of it. The paper shows that these two actions are *combined* in specific ways in the therapist's turns at talk.

The analysis focused on the therapist's initial responses to the segments of the patient's talk where the patient describes *how she feels about somebody or something* or *how somebody or something is like*. In many cases, these two kinds of actions – describing an affective experience and evaluating an object – intertwine in the patient's talk. In broad terms, the accounts can be heard as expressions of the patient's as it were 'immediate experience': with them the patient describes the way she feels with regard to important people or events in her life, how she relates to them. The therapist's responses in focus have the patient's inner experience as their referent, rather than referring to other issues such as the (external) situation that the patient might be worried about, and they are designed to indicate availability of the patient's experience to the therapist.

Recognition and interpretation were the basic types of therapist's experience oriented responses to the patient's descriptions. The article shows two ways in which these two actions are intertwined. In one, the recognition of the experience *as the patient told it* precedes interpretation as a separate act. The recognition invites agreement from the patient and this way also builds grounds for the therapist's next action, which is an interpretation. In the other way of combining the two actions, recognition is done, for example by prosodic means, *within* interpretation. In this case, what is affectively recognized in the therapist's initial response is somehow beyond the experience that the patient described.

The article suggests that recognition (emotional responsiveness) is a prerequisite of therapist's more interpretive actions that imply access to the patient's experience. This is connected to general psychotherapeutic debate on 'cognition-centred' vs. 'emotion-centred' approaches: it is concluded that they might not represent two distinguishable psychotherapeutic ways of working, but rather involve theoretical idealizations which foreground one or the other basic psychotherapeutic actions.

The reported practices are discussed through comparison to medical interaction. It is suggested that the difference between the psychotherapist's and the medical doctor's ways of responding to the patient's emotional experiences reveals, in the details of interaction, some institutional particularities of psychotherapy. Psychotherapy, unlike medical interaction, is characterized by the professional participant's orientation to the patient's problematic experiences as a central issue, and by the professional assuming a more direct access to the patient's experience than what can be found in medical care.

3.2. Misalignment as a therapeutic resource

The article reports an analysis of a single therapy session, explicating some ways in which interactional problems are managed. During this single session, interactional misalignment between the therapist and the patient emerges, culminates and is mitigated. The misalignment arises as the therapist pursues investigative orientation in relation to the patient's experience under discussion, whereas the patient maintains orientation to troubles telling. The diverging projects of the participants amount to overt misalignment. Eventually, the therapist brings up as a topic the relationship between herself and the patient, in ways which turn the misalignment into a resource of therapeutic work.

The article shows that in the latter part of this particular session, the participants end up in more complementary positions, exploring their relationship. The therapist manages to redirect the discussion in such a way that serves the prevalent therapeutic task of helping the patient to reflect upon her experience. The reflection in this case focuses on the the patient's contradictory feelings and her ways of interpreting the therapist's and other people's reactions to what she does or does not do. Still, in the details of the interaction, both the participants also retain their diverging projects. Throughout the session, the therapist maintains the separateness of hers and the patient's perspectives whereas the patient invites affiliation from the therapist.

The article suggests that interactional misalignment is a key aspect of what in psychotherapeutic literature is called 'ruptures of the therapeutic alliance'. The case study offers an example of how conversation analysis can be used to study the interactional emergence and management of such ruptures.

3.3. Professional non-neutrality

The article describes the therapist's actions that convey a critical stance towards a third party whom the patient has experienced problems with. The data analysis revealed two practices of this kind of critique: 1) the therapist can confirm the critique that the patient has (implicitly or explicitly) expressed in her previous turn or 2) she can return to critique which the patient has focused away from. These actions are shown to build grounds for the therapist's further, more challenging actions.

The article shows that the therapist's responses have similarities with everyday talk where participants respond with affiliation to complaints towards third parties: like the complaint recipients in everyday conversations, also the therapist shares the patient's implied or explicit critique, and indicates that the third party has transgressed moral standards. Thus, it is concluded that one context, which the therapy interaction can invoke, is that of the 'everyday social world' with its affective practices and moral codes. The therapist uses these resources of 'mundane non-neutrality' to a therapeutic purpose: to drawing a line between healthy and dysfunctional reactions to mistreatment. She uses the third party critique (complaint) as a tool for confronting the patient's tendency to react with self-blames instead of anger. The article suggests that in the case of psychotherapy, actions that as such might be seen as apparent lapses away from the neutral professional role can in their specific context perform the very task of the institution at hand. The findings presented in this article are to a degree in contrast with Parsons' idea on affective neutrality in medical and psychotherapeutic interaction. Hence, the article is concluded by a discussion on pockets of non-neutrality in institutional interaction.

3.4. Therapeutic change in interaction

The article describes a change process in the interaction between the therapist and the patient during the 18 month period that we have data from. The focus is on the patient's responses to particular kinds of therapist's interventions in different phases of the therapy. In the interventions, the therapist investigates and challenges the patient's tendency to transform her feelings of disappointment and anger into self-blame. Over the course of the therapy, the patient's responses to these interventions are recast: from rejection through ambivalence to agreement.

The therapist's interventions in the focus sequences are conclusions of two kinds: ones where the therapist brings out the patient's critical stance towards a third party (a stance which the patient has expressed more indirectly) and ones that call into question the patient's self-blame,on the basis of what has been agreed upon in the preceding interaction. In the beginning part of the therapy, the patient responded to such conclusions with silence, which was followed by explicit resistance. In the middle of the therapy process, the patient first confirmed but then backed off from the conclusion. Eventually, towards the end of the therapy, the patient confirmed the conclusion and displayed strong agreement. Throughout the process, in most of the cases the patient was collaborative with the therapeutic agenda: she did not resist working as such with the issues that the therapist brought up in her conclusions, but rather, she resisted the therapist's specific understandings and suggestions regarding them, thus conveying that she was not ready to agree with them until the issue is worked through.

It is concluded that transformation of the patient's actions in recurrent interactional sequences incorporates therapeutic change, and that CA offers useful tools to investigate such change. The article also suggests that CA perspective can provide useful additional understanding to approaches in psychotherapy research that focus primarily on intrapsychic processes of change.

4. Discussion

4.1. Therapeutic modifications of everyday talk

The four articles of this study described interactions where the patient and the therapist talked about the patient's negative emotional experiences. These exchanges had both thematically and sequentially similarities with troubles telling and complaining in everyday talk (Jefferson, 1988; Drew & Walker, 2009)¹. On the other hand, the talk was in service of institutional aims, orientation to which was incorporated in the turn design and sequential organisation of the participants' actions.

In their discussion on convergence of troubles telling and service encounter Jefferson and Lee (1992: 535) suggested that in the everyday activity of troubles telling, the focal object is the teller and his/her experiences while in a service encounter, the focal object is the problem and its properties. In everyday troubles telling, the tellers invite the recipients to focus on the experience as such and they reject advice that is offered too early in the troubles-telling sequence. The clients of service encounter, on the other hand, resist the focus on the experience and orient to the problem solving activity; or in the case of medical encounters, might invite an affiliating response but treat the focusing on the experience as an side issue and orient to quick return to the business, i.e., to solving the medical problem (Jefferson & Lee, 1992; Ruusuvuori, 2007). In the case of psychotherapy, however, these aspects might be seen as fundamentally intervoven, as psychotherapies by and large aim to change in the patients' and clients' relation to their experiences (see Peräkylä & al., 2008: 16). To put this in very simplified words, in psychotherapeutic encounters, the problems under discussion are the patient's experiences. Thus it is an institutional context in which the patient's emotional experience (at least in the sense of topic of talk) cannot be treated as irrelevant or as a side issue (cf. Jefferson & Lee, 1992; Ruusuvuori, 2007).

Through recognizing the patient's emotional experience (article 1) and by confirming the patient's critique of a third party (article 3), the therapist takes a position which is like that of an affiliating troubles (in the latter case also complaint) recipient: she displays understanding, compassion or agreement with the (potentially) emotional material that the patient offered (Ruusuvuori, 2007: 598-600). On the other hand, by interpreting the patient's emotional experience (article 1) and by challenging the patient's beliefs (article 3), the therapist orients herself to a kind of problem solving, which might be called

¹ My understanding is that the CA concepts of troubles telling and complaining overlap, and that most the actions described in the articles 1 and 3 were located within this overlap (so the speaker conveys both a problematic experience and a transgression by a third party). This troubles telling / complaining, then, also overlaps with the more institution-specific activities. Because of this complexity, in the article 3 we used the term 'critique' instead of 'complaint' with the aim to avoid confusion with more bounded complaint sequences (Drew, 1998). Retrospectively, this perhaps would not have been necessary, as also other studies on complaints in institutional settings have pointed that the complaint is often embedded in other activities (e.g. Ruusuvuori & Lindfors, 2009; Vöge, 2010).

therapeutic problem solving. (As such, 'problem solving' is not a proper term to describe therapeutic work, and therefore I use here the expression 'therapeutic problem solving' to refer to the *investigative line of action* that is comparable to discussing "the problem and its properties" [Jefferson & Lee, 1992: 535] in other institutional contexts.) Thus, when interpreting and challenging the patient, the therapist seeks to promote an understanding of mental processes that are connected to the patient's problematic experiences and her ways of relating to these experiences. The articles 1 and 3 showed that this kind of therapeutic problem solving activity took place after (in the case of interpretation, also simultaneously with) the affiliating actions. This resembles Jefferson's (1988; Jefferson & Lee, 1992: 531) template of troubles-telling sequence in which "work up" of the trouble (e.g. advice or diagnostic considerations) occurs only after orientation to the experience as such. However, unlike in the troubles telling sequence, the therapist's "work up" is not close-implicative but it launches further therapeutic problem solving activity: the therapist's suggestions².

Then again, the therapist's affiliation is not only affiliation as such (as in troubles telling) but it serves the therapeutic problem-solving. First of all, it has an intrinsic therapeutic purpose, as empathy (see discussion in the following section) is regarded as an essential part of a successful psychotherapy (Rogers, 1957; Bohart & Greenebrg, 1997). Moreover, the data analyses showed how the therapist's affiliating turns (recognition or confirmation) *built grounds* for the interpreting/challenging actions. In the context of psychotherapy, the everyday practices of troubles telling are thus used and modified for institutional purposes.

The article 2 then showed a case of misalignment between the frames of troubles telling and therapeutic problem solving: the patient invited the therapist to the position of a troubles recipient whereas the therapist oriented to the diagnostic line of action. This is where the mismatch between the frames of *the teller and her experiences* and *the problem and its proprieties* (Jefferson & Lee, 1992) came up. Nevertheless, that this kind of continuing mismatch is *possible* suggests that these two frames – troubles telling and therapeutic problem solving – are both inherent parts of psychotherapy – or were at least in this particular case.

Besides discussing the relation between troubles telling and problem solving, the articles dealt also with questions pertaining to epistemic rights (Peräkylä & Silverman, 1991; Heritage & Raymond, 2005) and institutional neutrality (Drew & Heritage, 1992) in the psychotherapeutic context. In article 1, we pointed out that, as compared to medical professionals (Ruusuvuori, 2005, 2007), the psychotherapist referred more directly to the patient's inner experience, implying that this experience is somehow similarly available to

² Article 4 showed how the patient responded to this "work up" invitation in one sequential context: she reflected the ways in which she could not confirm the therapist's suggestions. She also oriented towards working further on the issues in question. Finally, the patient responded to the therapist's suggestion in close-implicative ways and indicated that there was no need for further "problem solving" on the issue in question: the "troubles-telling sequence" could have been closed in an everyday way.

both participants. This kind of epistemic position might be particular to psychotherapy: it has also been reported from psychoanalysis (Vehviläinen, 2003; Peräkylä, 2008; cf. interaction between infants and caregivers, Kahri, 2007). When it comes to (non-) neutrality, article 3 showed that the practices of therapeutic interaction can look fairly similar to practices of everyday talk: the therapist's actions resembled those of a recipient of everyday complaints, as she shared the patient's affective and moral stance.

To summarise, the psychotherapeutic practices that were found in this study shared similarities with everyday practices of troubles telling and complaining. In terms of affiliating with the patient's affective and moral stance, they were perhaps closer to norms of everyday talk than some other institutional interactions are (Jefferson & Lee, 1992; Ruusuvuori, 2005, 2007; Drew & Heritage, 1992). On the other hand, these practices were modified and used for therapeutic purposes: they were designed and placed so that they built grounds for further therapeutic interventions. In the case of epistemic rights in referring to the patient's experience, then, the therapeutic interaction seemed to be as it were more 'institutional' (in the sense of being different from the what seem to be more generic norms of interaction) than interaction in other institutions (Peräkylä & Silverman, 1991; Ruusuvuori, 2007; Vehviläinen, 2003; Peräkylä, 2008).

Whether the specific features of interaction that were found in this study actually are typical to psychotherapies in general is a question for future (comparative) research on different psychotherapies. For example, future studies should explore the ways in which the therapist's investigative or challenging actions in other kinds of psychotherapy occur with or without the preceding or simultaneous affiliation (cf. article 2).

4.2. Types of empathy

The basis of the first and third articles is a collection of cases where there is a distinction between two kinds of response by the therapist: those that focus on the patient's inner experience and those that focus on the 'outer world'. In the 'experience-oriented' responses (discussed in the first article) the therapist 1) displayed empathetic recognition of the patient's experience, and 2) interpreted the experience e.g. by suggesting links between it and the patients' childhood experiences. In the responses shown in the third article the therapist focused on the 'outer word', by sharing the patient's criticism towards a third party. This built the ground for subsequent challenging of the patient's dysfunctional beliefs.

In the articles we discussed the actions of recognition of experience (article 1) and confirmation of critique (article 3) in terms of the psychological (and mundane) concept *empathy*. I would like to suggest that 'experience-oriented' recognition and 'outer word oriented' confirmation might involve two different types of empathy. Recognition primarily communicates that the speaker *perceives* the other person's subjective experience, while confirmation of critique communicates that the speaker *can feel in a similar way* as the other towards an object in the outer world. These two kinds of 'empathies' might have different interactional loci e.g. on the basis of whether the previous speaker brings to the foreground the inner or outer aspects of experience, and on

the basis of the epistemic resources that are provided for the empathizing party. Articles 1 and 3 suggest that these different types of empathy can be used also strategically in the therapeutic context: they build grounds for further actions that arise from the 'experience' or 'outer word' orientations.

Even though the concept of empathy has its 'home base' in psychology, in this study it is used to refer to social action (empathetic displays) and therefore, I use it rather interchangeably with the more common CA term affiliation (see also Ruusuvuori & Voutilainen, 2009). In psychological literature, empathy (as an attitude) is often defined in a more specific way, through the distinction between it and the more "projective" feelings of sympathy or compassion (Bohart & Greenberg, 1997, 7; Duan & Hill, 1996; cf. Ruusuvuori, 2005; see also Linehan 1997 on empathy/validation). According to Rogers's paradigmatic definition (1959: 201), empathy is an ability to "perceive the internal frame of reference of another with accuracy and with the emotional components and meanings which pertain thereto as if one were the person, but without ever losing the 'as if" condition". In this study, displays of this kind of 'pure empathy' were perhaps most apparent in the action of 'pure recognition' that was described in the first article: she as it were spoke from within the patient's experience by adding details to the patient's description of it (cf. Vehviläinen, 2003; Ruusuvuori, 2005, 2007). On the other hand, when the therapist combined recognition with interpretation (article 1), it is possible to argue that she did not display Rogersian empathy (but performed another kind of therapeutic task) in the sense that she, within the interpretation that pointed to something that the therapist heard as implicit (perhaps unconscious) in the patient's experience, mixed her frame of reference with that of the patient's (Rogers, 1959; cf. Stiles, 1992). In confirming the critique (described in article 3), the therapist might be seen as giving up the 'as if' condition and rather displaying sympathy, as she states her own opinion on the third party instead of purely reflecting that of the patient's (cf. Linehan, 1997; Stiles, 1992).

Whether these actions actually did overstep the patient's inner frame of reference, or lose the 'as if' condition, are eventually questions of the participants' experiences in ways which are not transparent in the data, and are beyond the object of this study.

However, in terms of communication of empathy, the two aspects in the Roger's definition on empathetic attitude: 1) perceiving the other's frame of reference and 2) feeling as *if* one were the other, seem to lead towards the *directions* of what the therapist conveyed in interpretation (i.e. that she is able to offer descriptions of the patient's experience that the patient did not offer as such) and confirmation (i.e. that she is able to take a similar stance). The actions of interpretation and confirmation appear to be means to display more access to (so empathetic understanding of) the patient's experience than would do merely paraphrasing the meaning of her words – which may even connect to the organisation of repair (see Schegloff, Jefferson & Sacks, 1977; cf. Rae, 2008).

In fact, the different kinds of therapist's apparently empathetic responses (recognition, interpretation and confirmation) were, basically, different types of combinations of linguistic means of *paraphrasing* and *interpreting* the patient's expressed experience and

*displaying affect*³. Thus, I would like to suggest that empathy as an *action* consists of these components (paraphrasing, interpreting and displaying affect) and that they are combined in different ways in different types of empathetic responses.

The empathetic responses that were described in articles 1 and 3 were recurrent in the therapy that we studied. Article 2, in turn, showed a deviant case in which misalignment between the participants emerged and was mitigated. Compared to the interactions described in articles 1 and 3, this case was different in many respects: the therapist's responses took more distance from the patient's emotion; the patient expressed acute anxiety; and in the latter part of the session, the participants topicalized explicitly the emotion between them. In article 2 we referred to the therapist's ways of maintaining the *separateness* of her own and the patient's experience. The therapist did not talk from within the patient's experience (cf. article 1) or share the patient's stance (cf. article 3) but took epistemic distance to the patient's emotion and talked about her own emotions and perceptions instead (cf. Vehviläinen, 2008 on resistance and confrontation in psychoanalytic interaction).

Whether this kind of maintenance of 'separateness' is a recurrent practice in moments of acute anxiety and intensive emotions in the therapeutic relationship, is a question that might be studied further. In this study, moments where the participants talk about feelings of depression and anxiety, or where they orient to the emotion in the current interaction, were not studied systematically. My overall impression of the data is, however, that in these cases therapist's initial responses to the patient's disclosures of problematic experiences are different from the responses studied in the articles 1 and 3. Studying moments of acute anxiety and intensive emotions in the therapeutic relationship would perhaps reveal further modifications of empathy, as well as those of confrontation, in the therapeutic context.

4.3. Social action and therapeutic change

Articles 1, 3 and 4 were based on data in which the participants discussed particular themes: the patient's problematic experiences with persons close to her, and her conceptions about herself. Whereas the first and third articles reported the therapist's recurrent practices of working with these themes, the last article took a longitudinal approach to one aspect of these discussions by describing a change process in specific kinds of sequences.

³ This disturbed me when I made collections of the therapist's responses to the patient's disclosures: it was not easy to label the therapist's actions in CA terms (cf. Vehviläinen & al., 2008). As sequential actions, the responses were (in some cases paradoxical) mixtures of syntactic and pragmatic features of candidate understandings / formulations (Heritage & Watson, 1979), extensions (Vehviläinen, 2003), direct statements (Bercelli & al., 2008) and second assessments (Pomeranz, 1984). The solution at that point was to divide the cases in more topical terms to "inner experience" and "outer word" references. Working with only clear case actions would perhaps have resulted finding other kinds of practices but in that way I might have lost the most typical empathetic responses in the data.

In the article we discussed the ways in which a transformation in the patient's verbal actions (in her responses to the therapist's suggestions) can be seen as embodying a therapeutic change. For a conversation analysts, focussing on what is manifest in interaction is a basic methodological choice: CA does not offer means to assess an intrapsychic therapeutic change. However, the social process of change that was manifest in the interaction can, in more theoretical terms, be linked to internal changes in the patient. In a way this is the whole idea of psychotherapy: changes in inner experiences and relating to oneself are achieved through interaction in the therapeutic relationship; in other words, as Peräkylä & al. (2008:16) pointed, through *sequential relations between actions* (see the discussion in the conclusions of the article 4).

Bearing this perspective in mind, and by drawing upon conversation analytical studies on learning (e.g. Young & Miller, 2004; Martin, 2004), as well as upon recent developments in psychotherapeutic process research (Leiman & Stiles, 2002), we made a linkage between our findings, and Vygotsky's (1978) concept of zones of proximal development. The therapist and the patient constructed first jointly the actions that the patient, in the end phase of the therapy, became able to accomplish by herself.

The change in the patient's actions can also be seen as a change in the patient's participation in the therapeutic relationship (cf. Lave & Wenger, 1991). Some theories of psychotherapy (e.g. Warner, 1997; Stern, 2004) suggest that therapeutic change takes place through new experiences of emotional expression and response in the therapeutic relation. In the cases shown in the article, through her conclusions, the therapist can be seen to offer recognition and validation of the patient's emotions and self. The patient's changing actions, in turn, might be seen as changing position in relation to the therapist: the patient first resists, then treats ambivalently and later accepts the recognition and validation and validation that the therapist offers. This change might convey new kind of relational knowledge by the patient (see Streeck, 2008: 183-184).

Furthermore, Peräkylä (2009) has recently suggested that the relation between manifest interaction and inner psychological processes can be re-articulated in the light of theories that see self-regulation and interactional regulation of emotion as a system. According to this view, any means of acting upon or with the co-participant in interaction, are simultaneously means of self-regulation in the individual (Beebe & Lachman, 2002; Peräkylä, 2009; cf. Scheff, 1990, 67; Mead, 1934). Following this route it is possibly to argue that when responding to the therapist's suggestions, the patient also, necessarily to some extent, regulated her inner experience in new ways. So, while the idea that the change in the patient's interactional expression also involves a change in her inner world is not empirically demonstrated in this study, it is a reasonable possibility, not only on basis of common sense, but also when considered in the light of relevant (social-) psychological theories.

As it was pointed above, articles 1, 3 and 4 describe segments of therapeutic discussion that share broadly the same topic. The collections which these papers were based on, were partly overlapping. For example, conclusions that questioned the patient's self-blame were studied in both the third and the fourth article. Assumingly the practices described in the articles 1 and 3 were connected to the change process that was shown in the last article. Perhaps future research on psychotherapeutic interactions could make more of these kinds

of connections, i.e. relations between therapist's practices and change processes in sequences. One aspect that was only briefly referred to in article 4, but could be looked at more in future research, is the changes in the therapist's interventions over time, and how they reflect the changes in the patient's talk. Perhaps also the (by no means categorical) distinction between 'inner' and 'outer' referents, applied in articles 1 and 3, could be a practical tool in future research on therapeutic work and change.

4.4. Integrative therapeutic work

The therapist's work described in this study seems to involve integration of different professional theories of cognitive therapies. Integration indeed is one of the characteristics through which cognitive-constructivist therapy in Finland identifies itself (Toskala & Hartikainen, 2005; about CA and professional theories see Peräkylä & Vehviläinen, 2003; Arminen, 2005).

Confirming critique and questioning of beliefs are practices that come perhaps closest to the original ideas of Beckian cognitive therapy, which examines patients' irrational thinking, and tests correctness of beliefs (in terms of factual evidence, i.e. 'outer word') (Beck, 1976; see also Linehan 1997, 370-374). The cases where the therapist combines recognition with interpretation, in turn, can be linked to ideas of cognitive-constructivist therapy, which works with *personal meaning organisations*, i.e. how the patient's subjective experience is (historically) constructed (Guidano, 1991). The ways in which the therapist in our data combines recognition and interpretation also resonate with the cognitive-constructivist distinction between 'experiencing' and 'explaining' the experience in the therapeutic situation (Guidano, 1991; Toskala & Hartikainen, 2005). Furthermore, the therapist's ways of responding first empathetically to the patient's emotional talk, before taking distance from it, resonates with the central ideas of emotion focused therapy (Greenberg, 2004), which suggests 'accessing' emotional experiences that are seen as primary and adaptive, such as anger as a reaction to mistreatment, or sadness as a reaction to loss.

The therapist's work in the 'deviant session' (article 2) connects to writings on ruptures of the therapeutic alliance, which recommed management of ruptures through metacommunication (Safran & al., 2001). The therapist topicalised the problems in the interaction and so turned the misalignment between the participants into a resource of therapeutic work.

In her actual practice the therapist of the data thus seems to use flexibly – and at the same time, in CA terms: orderly – elements from different (cognitive) therapies, which in some respects are contrasted with each other in the literature. Furthermore, in more general terms of therapeutic work, this study has shown concrete ways in which 'cognitive' and 'emotional' sides of therapeutic work are combined. As was discussed in the article 1, these sides are emphasised differently in theories of psychotherapy. This study however suggests that in the details of interaction, psychotherapy recurrently performs a dual task of *empathy and challenging* in relation to the patient's ways of describing their experiences.

4.5. Sequential complexity

From conversation analytical perspective, the combination of empathy and challenging in psychotherapeutic interventions seems to result in sequential complexity: in the data of this study this dual task was often performed through ambiguous actions that for example start like formulations, continue like assessments and end like acknowledgements. Often it was not made clear at all whether the therapist was speaking her own mind or reformulating the patient's ideas. My contemplations with these actions evoked considerations of the very identification of *action*, and thus the "unit of analysis" in CA of psychotherapy.

First of all, in analysing the data, I had difficulties with the concept of formulation – which inevitably is a core action in psychotherapies (see e.g. Antaki 2008; Vehviläinen, 2003; Peräkylä, 2004a). When I took the concept in the broad sense, most of the therapist's utterances in the data could have been called formulations: in them the therapist communicated to the patient what she has heard her saying in the previous turn. On the other hand, when I used the term in the narrow sense (for actions that manifestly display reformulating the prior speaker's turn for example by prefaces such as *you mean*, in Finnish typically *et* or *eli*), there were lots of therapist's actions – most of the wide sense formulations – that were left unnamed in CA terms. (See Antaki 2008; Heritage & Watson, 1979.)

The management of the data became easier when I figured that *action* could be identified in somewhat less technical terms, in a manner that might be called 'semantic' or 'social-psychological'. In my way of identifying actions, the focus is in the ways in which the therapist in her turn treats the experience that the patient expressed in her previous turn. These kinds of actions were named as *recognition*, *interpretation* and *confirmation* and used as units of the analysis. Then, the "basic sequential actions", such as formulations, proposals and assessments, were treated as *possibly coexisting features of turn design* that form the therapist's actions, instead of definitive labels of utterances (cf. Vehviläinen & al., 2008).

So, in short, my methodological suggestion is that – perhaps especially in studies on psychotherapy and emotional aspects of interaction – CA should not focus on only sequentially 'pure' actions but tolerate working with the messy ones. I maintain that this makes the interaction look more complex but, nevertheless, not less dynamic and purposeful.

References

- Angus, L. & McLeod, J. (2004). Self-multiplicity and narrative expression in psychotherapy. In Hermans, H. J.M. & Dimaggio, G. *The Dialogical Self in Psychotherapy* (pp. 77-90). New York: Brunner & Routledge.
- Antaki, C. (2008). Formulations in psychotherapy. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) *Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy* (pp. 26-42). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Antaki, C., Barnes, R., & Leudar, I. (2005). Diagnostic formulations in psychotherapy. *Discourse Studies*, 7, 627-647.
- Arminen, I. (1998). *Therapeutic interaction: a study of mutual help in the meetings of Alcoholics Anonymous*. Helsinki: The Finnish Foundation for Alcohol Studies.
- Arminen, I. (2005). Institutional Interaction. Aldershot: Ashgate
- Drew, P. & Atkinson, J.M. (1979). Order in court: The organisation of verbal interaction *in judicial settings*. London: Macmillan.
- Auvinen, P. (2009). Achievement of Intersubjectivity in Airline Cockpit Interaction. Academic dissertation. Tampere University Press: Acta Electronica Universitatis Tamperensis, 900.
- Avdi, E. & Georgaca, E. (2007). Discourse analysis and psychotherapy: A critical review. *European Journal of Psychotherapy and Counselling*, *9*, 157-176.
- Bachelor, A. (1988). How Clients Perceive Therapist Empathy: A Content Analysis of 'Received' Empathy. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice* 25, 227-40.
- Bales, R. F. (1999). Social interaction systems: Theory and measurement. New Brunswick: Transaction.
- Beck, A. T. (1976). *Cognitive Therapy and the Emotional Disorders*. New York: International Universities Press.
- Beck, A.T., Rush, A.J., Shaw, B.F., & Emery, G. (1979). Cognitive Therapy of *Depression*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Beebe, B. & Lachman, F. (2002). *Infant research and adult treatment: co-constructing interactions*. Hillsdale, NJ: Analytic Press.
- Bercelli, F., Rossano F., & Viaro, M. (2008). Clients' responses to therapists' reinterpretations. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) *Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy* (pp. 43-62). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bergmann, J. (1992). Veiled Morality: Notes on discretion in psychiatry. In Drew P. and Heritage J. (Eds.) *Talk at work: interaction in institutional settings* (pp. 137-162). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bohart, A. & Greenberg, L. (1997). Empathy and psychotherapy: an introductory overview. In Bohart, A. & Greenberg, L. (Eds.) *Empathy Reconsidered* (pp. 3-32) Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Brodley, B.T. & Brody, A.F. (1990). Understanding client-centered therapy through interviews conducted by Carl Rogers. Paper prepared for the panel Fifty Years of Client-Centered Therapy: Recent Research, at the American Psychological Association Convention in Boston, Massachusetts, August, 1990.
- Buttny, R. (1993). Social accountability in communication. London: Sage Publications.
- Buttny, R. (2004). *Talking Problems: Studies on Discursive Construction*. Albany: State University of New York Press.

- Clark, C. (1990). Emotions and micropolitics in everyday life: Some patterns and paradoxes of "place." In Kemper, T. (Ed.) *Research agendas in the sociology of emotions* (pp. 305-333). Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Collins, R. (2004). Interaction Ritual Chains. Oxford: Princeton University Press.
- Collins, S., Britten, N., Ruusuvuori, J., & Thompson, A. (Eds.) (2007). *Patient Participation in Health Care Consultations: Qualitative Perspectives*. Maidenhead: Open University Press
- Couper-Kuhlen, E. (2009). A sequential approach to affect: The case of 'disappointment'. In Haakana, M., Laakso, M., & Lindström, J. (Eds.) *Talk in Interaction: Comparative dimensions*. Finnish Literature Society, Studia Fennica Linguistica, Helsinki, pp. 94-123.
- Davis, K. (1986). The process of problem (re)formulation in psychotherapy. Sociology of *Health and Illness 8*, 44–74.
- Drew, P. (1998a). Complaints about transgressions and misconduct. *Research on Language and Social Interaction*, 31, 295-325.
- Drew, P. (1998b). An exercise in the comparative analysis of talk-in-interaction in different (institutional) settings: the case of 'formulations'. In Lehti-Eklund, H. (Ed.) *Samtalsstudier* (pp. 29–42). Helsinki: Department of Nordic Languages and Nordic Literature.
- Drew, P. & Walker, T. (2009). Going too far: Complaining, escalating and disaffiliation. *Journal of pragmatics*, *41*, 2400-2414
- Drew, P. & Heritage J. (1992). Analyzing talk at work: an introduction. In Drew, P. & J. Heritage (Eds) *Talk at work: interaction in institutional settings* (pp. 3-65). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Du Bois, J.W. (2007). The stance triangle. In Englebretson, R. (Ed.) *Stancetaking in discourse: Subjectivity, evaluation, interaction*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Duan, C. & Hill, C. E. (1996). The current state of empathy research. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 43, 261-274.
- Durkheim, E. (1980) [1912]. Uskontoelämän alkeismuodot. Australialainen toteemijärestelmä. Helsinki: Tammi.
- Edwards, D. (2000). Extreme Case Formulations: Softeners, Investment, and Doing Nonliteral. *Research on Language and Social Interaction* 23, 347-73.
- Edwards, D. (1995). Two to tango: Script formulations, dispositions, and rhetorical symmetry in relationship troubles talk. *Research on Language and Social Interaction*, 28, 319-350.
- Edwards, D. (1997). Discourse and Cognition. London: Sage.
- Edwards, D. (1999). Emotion Discourse. Culture & Psychology 5, 271-291.
- Ehrling, L-M. (2006). *Psykoterapian vaikutusten arvioiminen: Keskustelunanalyyttinen tutkimus arviointihaastattelun käytänteistä.* Helsinki: University of Helsinki, Department of Social Psychology.
- Falk, H. (in preparation). *Discussions between professionals and eating disordered patients*. Academic dissertation. University of Helsinki, Discipline of Sociology.
- Ferrara, K. W. (1994). Therapeutic ways with words. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ferrara, K. W. (2002). Blocking Emotions: The Face of Resistance. In Fussel, S. R. (Ed.) *The verbal communication of Emotions. Interdisciplinary perspectives.* Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Foucault, M. (1967). Madness and Civilisation. London: Tavistock.
- Furedi, F. (2004). *Therapy Culture: Cultivating Vulnerability in an Uncertain Age*. London: Routledge.

- Freese, J. & Maynard, D. (1998). Prosodic features of bad news and good news in conversation. *Language in Society* 27, 195–219.
- Gale, J. E. (1991). Conversation Analysis of Therapeutic Discourse: The Pursuit of a Therapeutic Agenda. (Advances in Discourse Processes 41.) Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Garfinkel, H. (1967). Studies in ethnomethodology. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Georgaca, E. & Avdi, E. (2009). Evaluating the talking cure: The contribution of narrative, discourse and conversation analysis to psychotherapy assessment. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *6*, 233-247.
- Gergen, K. J. (1999). An invitation to social construction. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Goffman, E. (1959). The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life. London: Penguin.
- Goffman, E. (1983). The Interaction Order. American Sociological Review 48, 1-17.
- Goodwin, C. (2007). Participation, Stance, and Affect in the Organization of Activities. *Discourse and Society*, 18, 53-73.
- Goodwin, C. & Goodwin, M.H. (2000). Emotion Within Situated Activity. In Duranti, A. (Ed.) *Linguistic Anthropology: A Reader* (pp. 239-57). Malden, MA: Blackwell.
- Greenberg, L. (2004). Emotion-focused therapy. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy* 11, 3-16.
- Greenberg, L. & Elliot, R. (1997). Varieties of Empathic Responding. In Bohart, A.C. & Greenberg, L. (Eds.) *Empathy Reconsidered: New Directions in Theory Research & Practice* (pp. 167-187). Washington, D.C.: APA Press.
- Guidano, V. (1991). *The Self in Process. Toward a post-rationalist cognitive therapy*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Günthner, Susanne, 1997. Complaint stories. Constructing emotional reciprocity among women. In H. Kotthoff, & R. Wodak (Eds) *Communicating gender in context* (pp. 179–218). Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Haakana, Markku (1999). Laughing matters. A conversation analytical study of laughter in doctor-patient interaction. Helsinki: Department of Finnish Language, University of Helsinki.
- Haakana, M. & Sorjonen, M-L. (Eds.) (forthcoming) *Tunteet käytössä. Tutkimuksia kielenkäytön affektisuudesta.* Finnish Literature Society.
- Haddington, P. 2006. The organization of gaze and assessments as resources for stance taking. *Text & Talk 26*, 281-328.
- Hakanen, A. (2008). Kognitiivisen psykoterapian luonne ja kehityshistoria. In Kähkönen, S., Karila, I. ja Holmberg (Eds.) *Kognitiivinen psykoterapia* (pp. 50-70). Helsinki: Kustannus Oy Duodecim.
- Hakulinen, A., Vilkuna, M., Korhonen, R., Koivisto, V., Heinonen, T.R. and Alho, A. (2004). *Iso suomen kielioppi*. Helsinki: Finnish Literature Society.
- Halonen, M. (2008). Person reference as a device for constructing experiences as typical in group therapy. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) *Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy* (pp. 139-151). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hare-Mustin, R. (1983). An appraisal of the relationship between women and psychotherapy: 80 years after the case of Dora. *American Psychologist 38*, 593-601.
- Have, P. ten (1999). Doing Conversation Analysis. London: Sage.
- Heath, C. (1988). Embarrassment and interactional organization. In Drew, P. & Wootton, A. (Eds.) *Erving Goffman: exploring the interaction order* (pp. 136-60). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Heath, C. (1989). Pain talk: The expression of suffering in the medical consultation. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, *52*, 113-125.

- Helén, I. (2007). Multiple depression. Making mood manageable. *Journal of Medical Humanities* 28, 149-172.
- Helén, I. & Ojakangas, M. (1994). Beyond good and evil: A case of adolescent psychiatry. *Young* 2, 37-51.
- Hepburn, A. (2004). Crying: Notes on Description, transcription and interaction. *Research* on Language and Social Interaction 37, 251-290.
- Hepburn, A. & Potter, J. (2007). Crying receipts: Time, empathy and institutional practice. *Research on Language and Social Interaction* 40, 89-116.
- Heritage, J. (1984). Garfinkel and ethnomethodology. Cambridge, MA: Polity.
- Heritage, J. (2004). Conversation Analysis and Institutional Talk. In Sanders, R. & Fitch, K. (Eds.) Handbook of Language and Social Interaction. Mahwah NJ, Erlbaum, pp. 103-146.
- Heritage, J. & Lindström A. (1998). Motherhood, medicine and morality: scenes from a medical encounter. *Research on Language and Social Interaction*, 31, 397-438.
- Heritage, J. & Atkinson, J.M. (1984). Introduction. In Atkinson, J.M. & Heritage, J. (Eds.) *Structures of Social Action* (pp.1-15). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,
- Heritage, J. & Raymond, G. (2005). The Terms of Agreement: Indexing Epistemic Authority and Subordination in Assessment Sequences. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 68, 15-38.
- Heritage, J. & Watson, R. (1979). Formulations as Conversational Objects. In Psathas, G. (Eds.), *Everyday Language* (pp. 123-162). New York: Irvington Press.
- Hochschild, A. (1979). Emotion work, feeling rules, and social structure. American
- Journal of Sociology, 85, 551-575.
- Hook, D. (2003). Analogues of power: Reading Psychotherapy through the sovereigntydiscipline-government complex. *Theory & Psychology*, 13, 605-628.
- Hook, D. (2001). Therapeutic discourse, co-construction, interpellation, role-induction; psychotherapy as iatrogenic treatment modality? *The International Journal of Psychotherapy*, 6, 47-66.
- Hutchby, I. (2005). "Active Listening": Formulations and the Elicitation of Feelings-Talk in Child Counselling. *Research on Language and Social Interaction*, *38*, 303-329.
- Hutchby, I. (2002). Resisting the incitement to talk in child counselling: Aspects of the utterance "I don't know". *Discourse Studies*, 4, 147-168.
- Ijäs-Kallio, T., Ruusuvuori, J. & Peräkylä, A. (forthcoming). Patient resistance toward diagnosis in primary care: implications for concordance. *Health*.
- Jefferson, G. (1980). On 'trouble-premonitory' response to inquiry. *Sociological Inquiry*, 50, 153-185.
- Jefferson, G. (1984a). On the organization of laughter in talk about troubles. In Atkinson, J.M. & Heritage, J. (Eds.) Structures of social action: Studies in conversation analysis (pp.346-369). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Jefferson, G. (1984b). Notes on some orderlinesses of overlap onset. In D'Urso, V. & Leonardi, P. (Eds.) *Discourse analysis and natural rhetoric* (pp. 11-38). Padua, Italy: Cleup Editore.
- Jefferson, G. (1988). On the sequential organization of troubles-talk in ordinary conversation. *Social Problems*, 35, 418-41.
- Jefferson, G. &. Lee J. R. (1992). The Rejection of Advice: Managing the Problematic Convergence of a 'Troubles Telling' and a 'Service Encounter'. In Drew, P. & Heritage, J. (Eds.) *Talk at work: interaction in institutional settings* (pp. 521-548). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Jefferson, G. (2004). Glossary of transcript symbols with an introduction. In Lerner, G.H. (Ed). *Conversation Analysis: Studies from the first generation* (pp. 13-31). Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins.
- Jokinen A. & Suoninen E. (Eds.) (2000). Auttamistyö keskusteluna. Tutkimuksia sosiaalija terapiatyön arjesta. Tampere: Vastapaino.
- Jones, C.M. & Beach, W.A. (1995). Therapists' techniques for responding to unsolicited contributions by family members. In G.H. Morris & R. Cheneil (Eds.) *The Talk of the Clinic: Explorations in the Analysis of Medical and Therapeutic Discourse* (pp. 49-70). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Kahri, M. (2007). Intersubjektiivisuus, vuorojen väliset yhteydet ja rytmi varhaisessa vuorovaikutuksessa tapaustutkimus. [Intersubjectivity, relations between adjacent turns and rhythm in infant-caretaker interaction a case study.] Masters thesis, University of Helsinki, Department of Sociology.
- Karila, I. & Holmberg, N. (2008). Käsitteellistäminen ja keskeiset työtavat. In: Kähkönen, S., Karila, I., & Holmberg, N. (Eds.) *Kognitiivinen psykoterapia* (pp. 50-70). Helsinki: Kustannus Oy Duodecim.
- Keisanen, T. (2007). Stancetaking as an interactional activity: Challenging the prior speaker. In Englebretson, R. (Ed.) *Stancetaking in Discourse: Subjectivity, evaluation, interaction* (pp. 253-281). Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins.
- Kemper, T. D. (1990). Social relations and emotions: A structural approach. In: Kemper, T.D. (Ed.) *Research Agendas in the Sociology of Emotions* (pp. 207–237). Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Kivivuori, J. (1992). *Psykokulttuuri*. Tampere: Hanki ja jää.
- Knekt, P., Lindfors, O., Laaksonen, M.A., Raitasalo, R., Haaramo, P., & Järvikoski A. (2008). Effectiveness of short-term and long-term psychotherapy on work ability and functional capacity - A randomized clinical trial on depressive and anxiety disorders. *Journal of Affective Disorders 107*, 95-106.
- Kurri, K. & Wahlström, J. (2001). Dialogical management of morality in domestic violence counselling. *Feminism and Psychology* 11, 187–208.
- Kurri, K. & Wahlström, J. (2007). Reformulations of agentless talk in psychotherapy. *Text & Talk*, 27, 315-338.
- Kuusinen, K-L. (2008). Terapeuttinen vuorovaikutus. In Kähkönen, S, Karila, I. & Holmberg, N. (Eds.) *Kognitiivinen psykoterapia*. Helsinki: Duodecim
- Kärkkäinen, E. (2006). Stance-taking in conversation: From subjectivity to intersubjectivity. *Text & Talk, 26, 699-731.*
- Labov, W. & Fanshel, D. (1977). *Therapeutic Discourse: Psychotherapy as Conversation*. New York: Academic Press.
- Laitila, A., Aaltonen, J., Wahlström, J., & Lynne, A. (2005). Narrative process modes as a bridging concept for the theory, research and clinical practice of systemic therapy. *Journal of family therapy*, 27, 202-216.
- Lambert, M.J. & Ogles, B.M. (2004). The efficacy and effectiveness of psychotherapy. In M.J. Lambert (Ed.), *Bergin and Garfield's Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change* (pp. 139-193). New York: Wiley.
- Lave, J. & Wenger, E. (1991). *Situated Learning. Legitimate peripheral participation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Leiman, M. (1997). Procedures as dialogical sequences: A revised version of the fundamental concept in Cognitive Analytic Therapy. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 70, 193-207.
- Leiman, M. & Stiles, W.B. (2001). Dialogical Sequence Analysis and the Zone of Proximal Development as Conceptual Enhancements to the Assimilation Model: The Case of Jan Revisited. *Psychotherapy Research*, *11*, 311-330.

- Leiman, M. (2004). Dialogical Sequence Analysis. In Hermans, H.J.M. & Dimaggio, G. *The Dialogical Self in Psychotherapy* (pp. 255-270). New York: Brunner & Routledge.
- Lepper, G. & Mergenthaler, E. (2005). Exploring group processes. *Psychotherapy Research*, 15, 433-444.
- Lepper, G. & Mergenthaler, E. (2007). Therapeutic collaboration: How does it work? *Psychotherapy Research*, *17*(5), 576-587
- Lepper, G. & Mergenthaler, E. (2008). Observing therapeutic interaction in the "Lisa" case. *Psychotherapy Research*, 18(6), 634-644.
- Lerner, G.H. (2004). Introductory remarks. In Lerner, G.H. (Ed) *Conversation Analysis: Studies from the first generation* (pp. 1-11). Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins.
- Leudar, I., Sharrock, W., Truckle, S., Colombino, T., Hayes, J., & Booth, K. (2008). Conversation of emotions: on turning play into psychoanalytic psychotherapy.
- In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) *Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy* (pp. 152-72). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lindfors, P. (2005). *Homeopaatin vastaanotolla. Tutkimus vuorovaikutuksesta ja päätöksenteosta.* Tampere: Tampere University Press.
- Linehan, M. M. (1997). Validation and psychotherapy. In Bohart, A.C. & Greenberg, L. (Eds.) *Empathy Reconsidered: New Directions in Psychotherapy* (pp. 353-92). Washington, D.C.: APA Press.
- Local, J. & Walker, G. (2008). Stance and affect in conversation: on the interplay of sequential and phonetic resources. *Text & Talk 28*, 723-747.
- MacMartin, C. (2008). Resisting optimistic questions in narrative and solution-focused therapies. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) *Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy* (pp. 80-99). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Martin, C. (2004). From Other to Self. Learning as interactional change. Uppsala: Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis.
- Melander, H. & Sahlström, F. (2009). In tow of the blue whale. Learning as interactional changes in topical orientation. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 41, 1519-1537.
- Maynard, D. (1997). The news delivery sequence: Bad news and good news in conversational interaction. *Research on Language and Social Interaction* 30, 93-130.
- Maynard, D. (2003). Bad News, Good News: Conversational Order in Everyday Talk and Clinical Settings. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- McIlvenny, P. (2002). Introduction: Researching talk, gender and sexuality. In McIlvenny, Paul (Ed.) *Talking Gender and Sexuality* (pp. 1-48). Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- McNamee, S. & Gergen, K. J. (Eds.) (1992). Therapy as Social Construction. London: Sage.
- Mead, G.H. (1934). Mind, Self and Society. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Mergenthaler, E. (1996). Emotion-abstraction patterns in verbatim protocols: A new way of describing therapeutic processes. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 64, 1306-1318.
- Mondada, L. & Pekarek Doehler, S. (2004). Second Language Acquisition as Situated Practice: Task Accomplishment in the French Second Language Classroom. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88, 501-518.
- Morrall, P. (2008). *The trouble with therapy: sociology and psychotherapy*. Maidenhead: Open University Press/McGraw-Hill.
- Orlinsky, D. E., Grawe, K., & Parks, B. K. (1994). Process and outcome in psychotherapy - noch einmal. Teoksessa Bergin, A. E. & Garfield, S. L. (Eds.) *Handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change* (pp. 270-376.) New York: John Wiley.
- Pachankis, J.E. & Goldfried, M.R. (2007). On the next generation of process research.

Clinical Psychology Review, 27, 760-768.

- Parsons, T. (1951). The Social System, New York: Free Press.
- Partanen, T. (2008). Interaction and Therapeutic Interventions in Treatment Groups for Intimately Violent Men. Jyväskylä Studies in Education, Psychology and Social Research, 332. Jyväskylä: University of Jyväskylä.
- Partanen, T., Wahlström, J., & Holma, J. (2006). Loss of self-control as excuse in grouptherapy conversations for intimately violent men. *Communication & Medicine*, 3, 171-183.
- Peräkylä, A. (1995). *AIDS Counselling: Institutional interaction and clinical practice*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Peräkylä, A. (1997). Reliability and validity in research based on naturally occurring social interaction. In Silverman, D. (Ed.) *Qualitative Research: Theory, Method and Practice* (pp. 283-304). London: Sage.
- Peräkylä, A. (2004a). Making links in psychoanalytic interpretations: a conversation analytic view. *Psychotherapy Research 14*, 289-307.
- Peräkylä, A. (2004b). Two traditions of interaction research. British Journal of Social Psychology 43, 1-20.
- Peräkylä, A. (2004c) Conversation analysis. In Seale, C., Silverman, D., Gubrium, J., & Gobo, G. (Eds.) *Qualitative Research Practice* (pp. 165-179). London: Sage.
- Peräkylä, A. (2005). Patients' responses to interpretations. A dialogue between conversation analysis and psychoanalytic theory. *Communication & Medicine 2*, 163-176.
- Peräkylä, A. (2008). Conversation analysis and psychoanalysis: Interpretation, affect and intersubjectivity. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) *Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy* (pp. 100-119). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Peräkylä, A. (forthcoming) Shifting the perspective after the patient's response. International journal of psychoanalysis.
- Peräkylä, A. (2009). Mieli sosiaalisessa vuorovaikutuksessa. Sosiologia 46, 269-285.
- Peräkylä, A., & Vehviläinen, S. (2003). Conversation analysis and the professional stocks of interactional knowledge. *Discourse and Society* 14, 727-750.
- Peräkylä, A. & Silverman, D (1991). Owning experience: Describing the experience of other persons. *Text 11*, 441-480.
- Peräkylä, A., Ruusuvuori, J. & Vehviläinen, S. (2005). Introduction: professional theories and institutional interaction. *Communication & Medicine 2*, 105-109.
- Peräkylä, A., Ruusuvuori, J. (2006). Facial expression in an assessment. In Knoblauch, H., Schnettler, B., Raab, J. & Soeffner, H-G. (Eds.) Video Analysis: Methodology and Methods (pp. 127-142). Frankfurt: Peter Lang.
- Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C. Vehviläinen, S. & Leudar, I (2008). Analysing Psychotherapy in Practice. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy (pp. 5-25). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Peräkylä, A. & Sorjonen, M-L. (Eds.) (forthcoming). *Emotion and affect in interaction*. Oxford University Press.
- Pittenger, R. E., Hockett, C. F., & Danehy, J. J. (1961). *The first five minutes. A sample of microscopic interview analysis.* Ithaca, NY: Paul Martineau.
- Potter, J. & Hepburn, A. (forthcoming). Putting aspiration into words: 'Laugh particles', managing descriptive trouble and modulating action. *Journal of Pragmatics*.
- Pomerantz, A. (1984). Agreeing and disagreeing with assessment: some features of

- preferred/dispreferred turn shapes. In Atkinson, J.M. & Heritage, J. (Eds.) *Structures of Social Action: Studies in Conversation Analysis* (pp. 57-101). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pomeranz, A. (1986). Extreme case formulations: a way of legitimizing claims, *Human Studies* 9, 219–229.
- Pudlinski, C. (2005). Doing Empathy and Sympathy: Caring Responses to Troubles Tellings on a Peer Support Line, *Discourse Studies* 7, 267-88.
- Rae, J. (2008). Lexical substitution as a therapeutic resource. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) *Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy* (pp. 62-79). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Rennie, D.L. & Toukmanian, S.G. (1992). Explanation in psychotherapy process research. In Toukmanian, S.G. & Rennie, D.L. (Eds.) *Psychotherapy process research. Paradigmatic and narrative approaches* (pp. 234-251). Newbury Park: Sage.
- Rogers, C.R. (1957). The Necessary and Sufficient Conditions of Therapeutic Personality Change. *Journal of Consulting Psychology* 21, 95-103.
- Rogers, C. R. (1959). A theory of therapy, personality and interpersonal relationships, as developed in the client-centered framework. In Koch, S. (Ed.) *Psychology: A study of science* (pp. 184-256). New York: Mc Graw Hill.
- Rose, N. (1996). *Inventing Our Selves: Psychology, power and personhood*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Ruusuvuori, J. (2005). "Empathy" and "sympathy" in action: Attending to patients' troubles in Finnish homeopathic and general practice consultations. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 68, 204-222.
- Ruusuvuori, J. (2007). Managing affect. Integration of empathy and problem solving in health care encounters. *Discourse Studies*, 9, 597-622.
- Ruusuvuori, J. & Lindfors, P. (2009). Complaining about previous treatment in health care settings. *Journal of Pragmatics*, *41*, 2415-2434.
- Ruusuvuori, J. & Voutilainen, L. (2009). Comparing affiliating responses to troublestellings in different types of health care encounters. In Haakana, M., Laakso, M. &
- Lindström, J. (Eds.) *Talk in Interaction: Comparative dimensions* (pp. 206-230). Helsinki: Finnish Literature Society.
- Safran, J.D., Muran, J.C., Wallner Samstag, L., & Stevens, C. (2001). Repairing therapeutic alliance ruptures. *Psychotherapy* 38, 406-412.
- Sandlund, E. (2004). Feeling by Doing: The Social organization of Everyday Emotions in Academic Talk-in-Interaction. Doctoral dissertation, Karlstad: Karlstad University Studies 36.
- Scheff, T. (1966). Being mentally ill. Chicago: Aldine
- Scheff, T. (1990). *Microsociology: Discourse, Emotion, and Social Structure*. Chigago: University of Chicago Press.
- Scheff, T. (2003). Shame in Self and Society. Symbolic Interaction 26, 239-262.
- Scheflen, A. (1973). *Communicational structure. Analysis of a psychotherapy transaction*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Schegloff, E.A. (1979). Identification and recognition in telephone conversation openings. In Psathas, G. (Ed.) *Everyday language: studies in ethnomethodology*. (pp. 23-78) New York: Irvington.
- Schegloff, E.A. (1992). Introduction, vol. 1. In Sacks, H. (1992) *Lectures on Conversation* (ix-lxiv). Oxford: Blackwell.
- Schegloff, E.A. (2007). Sequence Organization in Interaction: A Primer in Conversation Analysis I. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Schegloff, E.A. & Sacks, H. (1973). Opening Up Closings. Semiotica 8, 289-327.

- Schegloff, E.A., Jefferson, G., & Sacks, H. (1977). The preference for self-correction in the organization of repair in conversation. *Language* 53, 361-82
- Sacks, H. (1992). Lectures on Conversation. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Sacks, H., Schegloff, E.A., & Gail Jefferson (1974). 'A Simplest Systematics for the Organization of Turn-Taking for Conversation', *Language* 50, 696-735.
- Seikkula, J. (1993). The aim of therapy is generating dialogue: Bakhtin and Vygotsky in family session. *Human Systems Journal* 4, 33-48.
- Schütz, A. (2007 [1932]). Sosiaalisen maailman merkityksekäs rakentuminen [Der sinnhafte Aufbau der sozialen Welt: Eine Einleitung in die verstehende Soziologie. Finnish edition]. Tampere: Vastapaino.
- Sellman, J. (2008). Vuorovaikutus ääniterapiassa. Keskusteluanalyyttinen tutkimus harjoittelun rakenteesta terapeutin antamasta palautteesta ja oppimisesta. [Interaction in voice therapy. A conversation analytical study of voice training, therapist's feedback and learning.] Helsinki: University of Helsinki, Publications of the Department of Speech Sciences 54.
- Selting, M. (1994). Emphatic speech style with special focus on the prosodic signalling of heightened emotive involvement in conversation. *Journal of Pragmatics* 22, 375-408.
- Silverman, D. (1998). *Harvey Sacks: Social Science and Conversation Analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sorjonen, M-L. (2001). Responding in conversation. A study of response particles in Finnish. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Stern, D. (2004). *The present moment in psychotherapy and everyday life*. New York: W.W. Norton & Co.
- Stiles, W. B. (1992). Describing talk: A taxonomy of verbal response modes. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Stiles, W. B., Elliott, R., Llewelyn, S. P., Firth Cozens, J. A., Margison, F. R., Shapiro, D. A., & Hardy, G. (1990). Assimilation of problematic experiences by clients in psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy*, 27, 411-420.
- Stivers, T. (2007). Prescribing under pressure: Parent-physician conversations and antibiotics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Streeck, U. (2008). A psychotherapist's view of conversation analysis. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy (pp. 173-187). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Tausch, R. (1988). The relationship between emotions and cognitions: Implications for therapist empathy. *Person Centered Review*, *3*, 277–291.
- Toskala, A. & Hartikainen, K. (2005). *Minuuden rakentuminen. Psyykkinen kehitys ja kognitiivis-konstruktiivinen psykoterapia.* Jyväskylä: Jyväskylän koulutuskeskus.
- Turner, J. H. (2000). On the Origins of Human Emotions: A Sociological Inquiry into the Evolution of Human Affect. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Turner, J. H. and Stets, J.E. (2005). *The Sociology of Emotions*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Vehviläinen, S. (2003). Preparing and delivering interpretations in psychoanalytic interaction. *Text* 23, 573-606.
- Vehviläinen, S. (2008). Identifying and managing resistance in psychoanalytic interaction. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy (pp. 120-138). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Vehviläinen, S. (2009). Problems in the research problem: criticism and resistance in academic supervision encounters. Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research 6, 185-201.

Vehviläinen, S., Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., & Leudar, I. (2008). A review of the conversational practices of psychotherapy. In Peräkylä, A., Antaki, C., Vehviläinen, S., & Leudar, I. (Eds.) *Conversation Analysis and Psychotherapy* (pp. 188-197) Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). Mind in Society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Vöge, M. (in press 2010). Local identity processes in business meetings displayed through laughter in complaint sequences. *Journal of Pragmatics*.
- Whalen, J. & Zimmerman, D. H. (1998). Observations on the display and management of emotion in naturally occurring activities: The case of hysteria in calls to 9-1-1. Social Psychology Quarterly, 61, 141-159.
- Wahlström, J. & Kurri, K. (2005). Placement of responsibility and moral reasoning in couple therapy. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 27, 352-369.
- Warner, M.A. (1997). Does Empathy Cure? A Theoretical Consideration of Empathy, Processing, and Personal Narrative. In Bohart, A.C. & Greenberg, L. (Eds.) *Empathy Reconsidered: New Directions in Theory Research & Practice* (pp. 125-141). Washington, D.C: APA Press.
- Wootton, A.J. (1997). *Interaction and the Development of Mind*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Young, R.F. & Miller, E.R. (2004). Learning as Changing Participation: Discourse Roles in ESL Writing Conferences. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88, 519-535.

ORIGINAL ARTICLES